Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:	
Lauren A. Theis	Date: April 20, 2015

Exploring Presence of and Access to India's Food and Nutrition Entitlements: Realization of the Right to Food by Women in Bihar

By

Lauren A. Theis Master of Public Health

Hubert Department of Global Health Emory University Rollins School of Public Health

Amy Wahl Grand DhD

Amy Webb Girard, PhD Faculty Thesis Advisor

Exploring Presence of and Access to India's Food and Nutrition Entitlements: Realization of the Right to Food by Women in Bihar

By

Lauren A. Theis B.A., Rice University, 2013

Faculty Thesis Advisor: Amy Webb Girard, PhD

An abstract of
a thesis submitted to the Faculty of the
Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of
Master of Public Health
in the Hubert Department of Global Health
2015

Abstract

Exploring Presence of and Access to India's Food and Nutrition Entitlements: Realization of the Right to Food by Women in Bihar
By Lauren A. Theis

Background:

Maternal malnutrition is critically important in Bihar, India due to the high prevalence of malnutrition and intergenerational impacts of maternal undernutrition. Since its independence, India has regarded support of the right to food as a responsibility of the government and has developed entitlement programs to improve food and nutrition security. In 2013, the government passed the National Food Security Act (NFSA) to expand food and nutrition support. It is crucial to understand the experiences of entitlement providers and beneficiaries to inform future implementation of maternal and child nutrition programs.

Objective:

This study provides formative research on the implementation of the NFSA in Bihar, barriers and facilitators of widespread implementation of the NFSA, and actions to better support the demand and uptake of food and nutrition entitlements and consequential realization of the right to food by women in Bihar.

Methods:

Qualitative research was carried out from May-July 2014 in two comparative panchayats. Indepth interviews with pregnant or lactating women (n=8), Anganwadi Workers (n=4), Public Distribution Shopkeepers (n=4) and focus group discussions with husbands (n=4) and mothers-in-law (n=3) explored the supply, distribution, access, and utilization of entitlements available to women of reproductive age. Systematic coding and analysis of transcripts was conducted to describe data trends within and across each participant group.

Results:

Strong cultural beliefs exist with regards to women's responsibilities, the power of household "guardians," and prioritization of maternal health. All participants recognized Anganwadi Center services, but specifics about eligibility were unknown and services were not widely accessed. Interviewees were aware of Public Distribution System services, but the majority of participants were dissatisfied with the reduction in provisions in the 6 months prior to this study. Entitlement providers indicated challenges associated with the supply of resources they are given relative to demand.

Discussion:

Women's restricted autonomy, the minimal awareness of entitlement eligibility, and limited quantity and quality of provisions limit the realization of the right to food. In order to support the realization of the right to food in India, particularly for women, these challenges must be mitigated through a combination of citizen empowerment and improved entitlement accountaibility systems.

Exploring Presence of and Access to India's Food and Nutrition Entitlements: Realization of the Right to Food by Women in Bihar

By

Lauren A. Theis B.A., Rice University, 2013

Faculty Thesis Advisor: Amy Webb Girard, PhD

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in the Hubert Department of Global Health 2015

Acknowledgements

There are several people I must recognize for their invaluable contribution to this thesis – without the continued support from my mentors, colleagues, friends, and family, my success in this program would not have been possible.

I would first like to thank Dr. Amy Webb Girard for her support throughout the thesis process, from early brainstorming sessions to final signatures. Amy reminded me that I must not only listen to the voice of every research participant, but also understand the incredible power of his or her silence. Amy encouraged me to forge my own path as a graduate student while also providing sage feedback, guidance, and inspiration to help me reach my goals.

Next, I would like to express my appreciation for the CARE India Bihar staff, without which this research could not have left the office. I would particularly like to thank Rukshan Mehta for her assistance in this project despite her recent arrival to the position and Priya Kekre for not only supporting the development of this research, but also enabling me to understand the voices of individuals with whom I cannot directly communicate. I am also indebted to our wonderful research assistants Disha Patel and Anita Kumari – without their determination in the field (and on the long car rides), this research could not have happened.

Additionally, I am grateful for the support at Emory University, including Dr. Melissa Fox Young and the rest of the Emory/IFHI team, who allowed me to travel, learn, and grow while conducting research in Bihar.

Furthermore, I would like to express my interminable gratitude to my friends and family, who patiently listened as I discussed this thesis each and every day of the past year – even while I was 8,656 miles away from home.

Finally, I would like to thank the women and men of Bihar who donated their time to share their experiences, hopes, and concerns for food and nutrition security in their communities; I hope that this research may enact positive change in their lives, as it has in mine.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
CONTEXT OF PROBLEM	
PROBLEM STATEMENT	
Bihar, India	2
PURPOSE OF PROJECT	5
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	
BURDEN OF MATERNAL MALNUTRITION	
ROLE OF FOOD SECURITY IN MALNUTRITION	8
CONTRIBUTION OF FOOD SECURITY TO HEALTH BEYOND NUTRITION	g
GLOBAL RIGHT TO FOOD MOVEMENT	10
Indian Context	13
Malnutrition in India	
Food and nutrition entitlements for women in India	
Public Distribution System	
Indian Right to Food Campaign and Movement	
India's National Food Security Act	
CHAPTER 3: METHODS	24
STUDY LOCATION	
STUDY POPULATION	25
DESCRIPTION OF THE STUDY POPULATION	26
PDS Shopkeepers and Shops	2 <i>e</i>
Anganwadi Workers (AWWs)	
Pregnant and Lactating Women	2 <i>t</i>
Husbands and Mothers-in-Law	2 <i>t</i>
STUDY TEAM	27
RECRUITMENT	28
DEVELOPMENT OF DATA COLLECTION TOOLS	
IN-DEPTH INTERVIEWS AND FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSIONS	29
ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	31
DATA ANALYSIS	
LIMITATIONS	
CHAPTER 4. RESULTS	35
GENERAL STATUS OF COMMUNITY FOOD AND NUTRITION SECURITY	35
FOOD-RELATED HOUSEHOLD ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES	38
PRIORITIZATION OF WOMEN'S NUTRITION AND HEALTH	39
PERCEPTIONS OF FOOD AND NUTRITION ENTITLEMENT PROGRAMS	42
Anganwadi Center	42
Public Distribution Scheme	
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT IN DEMAND AND ADVOCACY FOR CHANGE	53
CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION	56
WOMEN'S AUTONOMY AND STATUS IN THE HOUSEHOLD	
MINIMAL AWARENESS OF ENTITLEMENT ELIGIBILITY	
LIMITED QUANTITY AND QUALITY OF ENTITLEMENT PROVISIONS	
PROGRAMMATIC RECOMMENDATIONS	
POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS	62

NEED FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	63
STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS OF RESEARCH	64
CONCLUSION	64
REFERENCES	67
APPENDICES	72
APPENDIX 1. PREGNANT AND LACTATING WOMAN IDI GUIDE	72
APPENDIX 2. ANGANWADI IDI GUIDE	75
APPENDIX 3. PDS SHOPKEEPER IDI GUIDE	78
APPENDIX 4. HUSBANDS AND MOTHERS-IN-LAW FGD GUIDE	81
APPENDIX 5. CODEBOOK	85

Chapter 1. Introduction

Context of problem

Despite improvements in food availability and price stability in recent years, the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) estimates that 805 million people across the globe were undernourished in 2012 (FAO, 2014). Though this metric indicates a decrease from the early 2000s, the overall decline in undernutrition masks the disparities in food and nutrition security that exist within and across regions. Sub-Saharan Africa and Southern Asia have made slow progress in the reduction of chronic malnutrition compared to other geographic regions, and Southern Asia holds the largest number of malnourished individuals due to its sizable population (FAO, 2014). Moreover, an estimated 60% of undernourished individuals across the globe are women or girls; in India, 30% of women are undernourished, 57% are anemic, and 28% had low birthweight infants (UNICEF, 2013; FAO, 2010; NFHS, 2006), with immediate implications for maternal and child morbidity and mortality and long term effects on poverty, health, and wellbeing (Mason et al, 2014). Substantial and sustainable reduction of malnutrition in India, especially among women, will require political commitments that regard adequate and appropriate food as a basic human right and prioritize the improvement of women's status. Understanding current political action towards improving food and nutrition security in India, particularly through the "right to food" lens, is of critical importance in the pursuit of improved global maternal health.

Problem statement

Food security, though a constantly-evolving concept, is defined by the FAO as a state that exists "when all people, at all times, have physical, social and economic access to sufficient safe

and nutritious food that meets their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life" (FAO, 2015). Although sufficient access to food alone does not ensure adequate nutrition intake and utilization, insufficient access to food is strongly associated with inadequate nutrition outcomes; across the globe, food insecurity has been shown to be inversely associated with diet quality and health outcomes in low-income adults (Leung et al, 2014; Tarasuk, 2001). Food insecurity for women of reproductive age is particularly important, as the effects of food insecurity impact the health and well-being of women and their children; inadequate maternal nutrition has an immense and permanent impact on the nutritional status of young infants and children, spurring an intergenerational cycle of malnutrition that affects entire populations (Delisle, 2008). Studies have shown that preconceptual nutrient deficiencies lead to low birthweight infants, child stunting, delivery complications, and increased child mortality (Martorell and Zongrone, 2012). Moreover, because of women's contribution to food production and preparation, role in care giving, increasingly prevalent role as head-of-household, and disproportionately poor economic status compared to men, a special focus needs to be placed on women's food security (Ivers and Cullen, 2011). For these reasons, there is a pressing need for global improvement of maternal food security, particularly in Southern Asia.

Bihar, India

In 2014, over 190 million people – or 15 percent of the population – in India were undernourished (FAO, 2014). However, the distribution of undernourishment is not uniform across the Indian states; the prevalence of undernutrition and food insecurity varies greatly by state, and is particularly high in the state of Bihar. The intergenerational cycle of poor infant health outcomes of undernourished mothers is evident in Bihar, where 45% of women of

childbearing age (15-49) have BMI <18.5 and 19% have BMI <17.0; in Bihar, 21.7% of infants are low birth weight, two in every five children under 3 are stunted, and one in every four children under 3 is wasted (Nozensky et al, 2012; NFHS, 2006; Dharmalingam et al, 2009).

Bihar is India's third most populous state, with a population of 103 million that is 90% rural, but has the highest population density in the country (UNDP, 2011). The state is located in northeast India, landlocked between the states of West Bengal, Uttar Pradesh, and Jharkhand and Nepal. Physically, at 94,163 km², Bihar is the twelfth largest state in India (UNDP, 2011). Bihar also has the lowest annual per capital income of all states at INR 14,654 (USD\$236) (UNDP, 2011). According to the 2009 Tendulkar Committee Report, 55% of Bihar's population lives below the poverty line; this is far beyond the national average of 37%, and is associated with many negative social and health outcomes (Government of India Planning Commission, 2011). Furthermore, if the Multidimensional Poverty Index is considered, about 80% of the population lives below the poverty line (UNDP, 2014). Almost 58% of the population in Bihar is under the age of 25, and nearly 16% of the Bihar population comprises Scheduled Castes while less than 1% comprises Scheduled Tribes (UNDP, 2014).

While developmental progress has been made in recent years, Bihar still lags far behind the vast majority of Indian states on most health and development indicators. Within state disparities are also evident; the development of northern Bihar lags behind southern Bihar, due to low agricultural productivity, poor irrigation facilities, and high vulnerability to floods (Choudhary, 2014). Women in Bihar are especially vulnerable, as they represent a disproportionate share of the poor, have limited access to health services, are prone to malnutrition during pregnancy and lactation, are subject to life-threatening complications of pregnancy and child birth, and are exposed to unequal societal power dynamics and

disempowerment across the globe (Glasier et al, 2006). Because of its low developmental status and high prevalence of maternal malnutrition, Bihar is in critical need of strengthened food and nutrition security policies that enable the full realization of the right to food for women and their families. Currently, the government of India sanctions many food and nutrition entitlements to Bihar's citizens through local Anganwadi Health Centers and Public Distribution System shops; however, the delivery of these entitlement programs must take a wide range of social, political, and environmental factors into consideration to achieve the intended aims of supporting food and nutrition security.

India's Constitution enshrined the right to food for citizens in 1947, when India achieved independence. However, the persistent and dire state of maternal and child undernutrition across the country has caused increasing pressure to be placed on the Indian government to intensify its commitment to ensuring food and nutrition security for its population, especially the most vulnerable. The citizen-led Indian Right to Food Campaign promotes the ideal that "everyone has a fundamental right to be free from hunger and undernutrition," and considers the achievement of this right as a primary responsibility of the state (RFC, 2015). The campaign aims to ensure that hunger and malnutrition become a political priority and that resources reach the intended beneficiaries, and has placed pressure on the Indian government to create appropriate multi-sectoral policies to reduce hunger and malnutrition (Srinivasan and Narayanan, 2014). The Indian national and state governments have implemented a wide variety of nutrition and food entitlements, resources, and schemes in order to improve the health conditions of vulnerable populations, many of which have been supported by the Right to Food Campaign (RFC, 2015). Most recently in 2013, the Indian government passed the National Food Security Act, an act that intends to provide subsidized grains to 820 million people across the country for

USD\$21 billion each year; based on these recent policy developments, an assessment of government support of the right to food – especially as it relates to maternal health – is necessary (Kishore et al, 2013).

Purpose of project

Despite extensive evidence documenting the impacts of maternal nutrition on the lifelong health and well-being of a woman's child, little policy and programmatic attention has been dedicated to efforts that facilitate improvement in women's nutrition before, during, and in the two years following pregnancy (Mason et al, 2014). Since 2010, Emory University Rollins School of Public Health students and faculty have conducted research in partnership with CARE India to understand the complex and interrelated facets of infant, child, and maternal nutrition and health outcomes in Bihar, India. In particular, more information is needed in regards to the Indian government's food and nutrition entitlements and their potential for impacting maternal nutrition. This thesis aims to provide a greater understanding of the awareness, perceptions, and practices that women of reproductive age, community members, and front line workers have with regards to food and nutrition support currently available in Bihar. This research is critical to further inform CARE program activities from a right to food perspective. From a broader perspective, this research can inform government implementation of the National Food Security Act and consequential realization of the right to food for women.

This study provides formative qualitative evidence from women, husbands, mothers-inlaw, Public Distribution System Shopkeepers, and Anganwadi Center community health workers regarding the supply, distribution, access, and utilization of the national and state nutritional programs, entitlements, and other benefits available to women of reproductive age in Bihar. The following three research objectives were used to guide data collection and analysis:

- Provide formative research on the implementation of the National Food Security Act in Bihar
- Identify barriers to and facilitators of widespread implementation of the National Food Security Act specifically as they relate to ICDS and PDS programs
- 3. Recommend actions to better support the demand and uptake of food and nutrition entitlements and consequential realization of the right to food by women in Bihar.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Burden of maternal malnutrition

Malnutrition refers to both undernutrition and overnutrition, but for the purposes of this paper, will refer to undernutrition. Many factors lead to the development of malnutrition, the majority of which are related to inadequate dietary intake and/or the incidence of severe or repeated infections (Blössner, 2005; Gomez et al, 2013). Inadequate dietary intake includes deficiencies in quantity (total caloric intake) and/or quality of food (variety, diversity, nutrient content, and safety) (Gomez et al, 2013). Without proper dietary intake, the immune system is weakened and malnourished individuals become more susceptible to disease. Consequential diseases can result in increased nutrient needs and further weakening of the immune system (Gomez et al, 2013). Malnutrition is thus both a primary health outcome and a risk factor for disease, and leads to a cycle of life-threatening consequences (Blössner, 2005).

Maternal malnutrition relates to the inadequate nutrition of a woman during the preconception, pregnancy, and lactation stages; at these critical junctures in the lifecycle, women have increased nutritional needs to support both themselves and their child. Maternal undernutrition – defined as having a body-mass index of less than 18.5 – is especially prevalent in Southern Asia, and has an important role in global health due to cyclical nature of undernutriton (Black et al, 2013; Blössner, 2005). Malnutrition not only plays a powerful role in the health and development of individuals, but also of entire societies. Linear growth failure, or "stunting," is the most common form of undernutrition across the globe (Prendergast and Humphrey, 2014). Stunting has a widespread, detrimental effect on societal development and human capital potential; when linear growth retardation occurs in early life, individuals face increased likelihood of morbidity, mortality, and reduced physical, neurodevelopmental, and

economic capacities that exacerbate inequalities on a micro- and macro-scale (Prendergast and Humphrey, 2014; Black et al, 2013).

Both chronic maternal undernutrition that results in stunting and acute or chronic maternal undernutrition that results in wasting have independent adverse effects on pregnancy outcomes (Black et al, 2013). Short statures as a result of stunting result in higher rates of cesarean delivery; even in an area that can provide accessible and safe delivery, such surgery increases the risk of maternal morbidity (Black et al, 2013). Additionally, low maternal BMI is associated with intrauterine growth restriction; poor fetal growth resulting from intrauterine growth restriction can lead to birth asphyxia and various fatal infections, which account for 60% of all neonatal deaths, and increased risk of stunting within the first two years of life (Black et al, 2013). Micronutrient deficiencies such as vitamin A, zinc, iron, and iodine, which are commonly present in underweight mothers, also result in a variety of maternal and child morbidities (Black et al, 2013).

Undernutrition that leads to linear growth failure impacts future generations, as "women who were themselves stunted in childhood tend to have stunted offspring, creating an intergenerational cycle of poverty and reduced human capital that is difficult to break" (Prendergast and Humphrey, 2014). More than one third of child deaths and 10% of total global disease burden are attributed to maternal and child undernutrition, indicating an urgent need for improvement in maternal nutrition status across the globe (Black et al, 2013).

Role of Food Security in Malnutrition

Using the working definition stated by the Food and Agriculture Organization, food security implies access to adequate nutritional resources. However, because food security is a "multidimensional concept that encompasses aspects of availability, access, and utilization," it is

difficult to create and identify a standardized measure to determine food security across all settings and cultures; studies discussing food security and its impacts on health therefore use a variety of measurement tools and methodologies to classify levels of food security (Ivers and Cullen, 2011). In many cases, these measurements capture some – but not all – aspects of food security. Regardless of the measurement used, there are many linkages between food security and individual nutritional status.

Adults from food-insecure households have higher estimated prevalence of nutrient inadequacy than those from food-secure households, particularly in protein, vitamin A, thiamin, riboflavin, vitamin B-6, folate, vitamin B-12, magnesium, phosphorus, and zinc (Kirkpatrick and Tarasuk, 2008). Where specific nutrient levels have not been identified, household food insecurity has been consistently associated with lower likelihood of fruit and vegetable consumption, which leads to lower consumption of critical micronutrients (Gulliford et al, 2003). While food insecurity has been shown to predict overweight in countries such as the United States, it does not necessarily predict overweight in countries or regions undergoing the nutrition transition; household food insecurity may a predictor of adult underweight in such countries (Isanaka et al, 2007). In Southeast Asia, household food insecurity has also been associated with stunting and underweight in children <5 years (Sreeramareddy et al, 2014).

Contribution of Food Security to Health Beyond Nutrition

Historically, food security has primarily been linked to its impact on nutrition; however, the effect of food security on other health and behavior outcomes is increasingly recognized (Ivers and Cullen, 2011). Household food insecurity has the potential to impact human health beyond the impacts of malnutrition, particularly psychosocial health, in both resource-poor and

resource-rich settings (Ivers and Cullen, 2011). Regular insufficient household food resources have been associated with poor mental health outcomes such as depression and chronic stress, particularly for females (Sorsdahl et al, 2011; Hadley and Patil, 2006; Heflin et al, 2005). Furthermore, self-reported quality of life scores are lower for women than men in food insecure households (Heylen et al, 2014). Additionally, children are particularly susceptible to negative psychosocial health outcomes. Controlling for education and income, food insecurity has been linked to compromised psychosocial functioning of school-aged children (Olson, 1999). Though it is difficult to separate mental health consequences of food insecurity from poverty and other shared risk factors, there is growing evidence that policies to improve food security will positively impact the mental and cognitive health of low-income women and children across the globe (Heflin et al, 2005). In addition to mental health outcomes, maternal food insecurity has been associated with increased odds of child morbidities including cough, fever, and diarrhea (Pinstrup-Andersen, 2012). These complex health impacts have broad reaching impacts on community development and individual capacity, and are critically important for the development of nations; in all of its forms, the estimated cost of malnutrition is between 4-5% of global GDP (de Silva and Chan, 2014).

Global Right to Food Movement

India's National Food Security Act and other food and nutrition programming have been devised as part of the global initiative to support the human right to food, a concept that has been slowly woven and shaped over the past century. The Universal Declaration of Human Rights was adopted in 1948, and marked the first formal international acknowledgement of the right to food for all individuals of all nations; Article 25 reads,

"Everyone has the right to a standard of living adequate for the health and well-being of himself and of his family, *including food*, clothing, housing and medical care and necessary social services, and the right to security in the event of unemployment, sickness, disability, widowhood, old age or other lack of livelihood in circumstances beyond his control" [emphasis added] (Assembly U.G., 1948).

After the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, this right to adequate food was repeatedly reaffirmed in documents such as the International Covenant on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, and the Convention on the Rights of the Child, promoting food as a fundamental right in the global community (De Schutter, 2013). In 1974, attendees of the World Food Conference declared that "every man, woman and child has the inalienable right to be free from hunger and malnutrition in order to develop their physical and mental faculties," and planned to eradicate hunger and food insecurity over the next 10 years. However, few clearly defined actions and indicators to monitor food security accompanied this plan, and long-term right to food discussions slowly faded in the minds of global leaders.

In the years after the World Food Conference, global rates of undernutrition continued to increase alongside rising concerns of inadequate agriculture capacities to feed the growing population (De Schutter, 2013). The World Food Summit was called in 1996 as a response to these concerns, and brought together over 10,000 participants from 185 countries (WSFS, 2009). At this meeting, the attendees reevaluated the goals set at the World Food Conference and declared a new goal of "achieving food security for all and to an ongoing effort to eradicate hunger in all countries, with an immediate view to reducing the number of undernourished

people to half their present level no later than 2015" (WSFS, 2009). However, even at this time, access to plentiful and appropriate food for all remained as more of a theoretical aspiration than a tool for negotiating tangible action.

In subsequent years, the Right to Food Guidelines were progressively defined and ultimately adopted by Food and Agriculture Organization member states in 2004. These guidelines, officially named the "Voluntary Guidelines to support the progressive realization of the right to adequate food in the context of national food security," provided practical guidance and legal frameworks for supportive policy-making, from economic development to global food aid (De Schutter, 2013). As the demand for guidelines and frameworks to steer sustainable developments in global food security increased, the 2009 World Summit on Food Security created the Five Rome Principles for Sustainable Global Food Security (De Schutter, 2013). These principles not only reaffirmed the right to food, but also provided specific guidance for policy-making, particularly through Principle 3:

"Strive for a comprehensive twin-track approach to food security that consists of: 1) direct action to immediately tackle hunger for the most vulnerable and 2) medium and long-term sustainable agricultural, food security, nutrition and rural development programs to eliminate the root causes of hunger and poverty, including through the progressive realization of the right to adequate food" (WSFS, 2009).

According to the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food Olivier De Schutter, the right to food has now "entered a new phase, in which implementation has become the central focus of efforts," and is realized at three main levels: (1) obligations to respect, protect, and fulfill, (2) a shift from charity-based schemes to legal entitlements, and (3) framework laws and national

strategies in support of the realization of the right to food (De Schutter, 2013). De Schutter defines the right to food as "the right to have regular, permanent and unrestricted access, either directly or by means of financial purchases, to quantitatively and qualitatively adequate and sufficient food corresponding to the cultural traditions of the people to which the consumer belongs, and which ensure a physical and mental, individual and collective, fulfilling and dignified life free of fear" (De Schutter, 2013). The United Nations has recognized that "the right to adequate food is indivisibly linked to the inherent dignity of the human person and is indispensible for the fulfillment of other human right," and that the right to food is inseparable from social justice, requiring appropriate economic, environmental, and social policies, ad the national and global levels" (ECOSOC, 1999). The present challenge of hunger and malnutrition are not a lack of food, but the lack of access to appropriate food, especially for the most vulnerable including young children and women of reproductive age; it is important to recognize that the right to adequate food should not be interpreted in a "narrow or restrictive sense, which equates it with a minimum package of calories, proteins, and other specific nutrients" (ECOSOC, 1999). It is with this lens that countries are beginning to view the provision of assistance to increase food security as a fundamental right, as seen in India's attempt to increase food and nutrition security through national laws and entitlement programs.

Indian Context

Malnutrition in India

Food and nutrition security in India, particularly for women, is far from adequate.

Malnutrition has been referred to as India's "silent emergency," due to its lack of significant publicity or political attention despite its incredibly widespread and inter-generational impact

(World Bank, 2013). On the Global Food Security Index, which indexes countries based on 28 indicators surrounding food affordability, availability, quality, and safety, ranks India 69 out of 109 indexed countries (GFSI, 2013). Overall, India has a 15% undernourishment rate and an average food deprivation of 121 kcal/person/day, but food and nutrition insecurity are not uniform across geographic, economic, or social boundaries (FAO, 2014; GFSI, 2013). Though the aggregate levels of malnutrition are staggeringly high, inequities arise both in and across states and socio-demographic groups. Females, rural populations, lowest income populations, and scheduled castes and tribes are disproportionally affected (World Bank, 2013). According to Ramakrishnan et al (2012), "inadequate nutrient intake, early and multiple pregnancies, poverty, caste discrimination, and gender inequality contribute to poor maternal nutrition in India." The rate of under-five malnutrition in India is almost five times higher than China and twice the rates found in Sub-Saharan Africa, indicating a need for improved maternal and child nutrition policy and intervention (World Bank, 2013).

In Bihar, the status of food and nutrition security is even more critical than the rest of the country. Over 56% of children and over 45% of women in Bihar are underweight, indicating a clear need for improved food and nutrition resources for a large segment of the population (NFHS, 2009). Because of the widespread impact of malnutrition on health, education, and economic productivity, improving the realization of the right to food in India should be a paramount political priority to improve the overall development of the country.

Interventions to sustainably improve maternal food and nutrition security in India are not only linked to the provision of adequate resources; long-term changes will also require changes in women's empowerment and other prohibitive social norms. Recent analyses have reaffirmed evidence that more empowered women have better nourished children, possibly slowing or

halting the cycle of malnutrition; studies in nearby Bangladesh demonstrated that when women are involved with household decisions regarding food, families consume more diverse diets and suffer less negative health outcomes (World Bank, 2013; Bhagowalia et al, 2012)

Food and nutrition entitlements for women in India

There is a range of food and nutrition entitlements available for women and their children in India, each of which was created to address the ongoing challenges of maternal and child undernutrition and facilitate realization of the right to food. The following entitlements are some of the most widespread entitlements in India, and are focused on as the primary mechanisms of government-supported food and nutrition security throughout this study; there are many other policies and programs that impact food and nutrition security without provision of food resources, but could not all be captured as part of this study.

Integrated Child Development Services (ICDS)

The Integrated Child Development Services (ICDS) was established in 1975 in order to break the "vicious cycle of malnutrition, morbidity, reduced learning capacity and mortality" (ICDS, 2014). Its objectives include improving the nutrition and health status of children 0-6, achieving coordination of policy and implementation amongst various governmental departments, and enhancing the capacity of a mother to look after the health and nutritional needs of her child. These objectives are achieved through the distribution of an integrated package of services, including supplementary nutrition provision, nutrition and health education, and immunization of both children and pregnant and lactating women (ICDS, 2014).

Each of these services is provided through local ICDS teams: Anganwadi Workers, Anganwadi Helpers, Supervisors, Child Development Project Officers (CDPOs) and District Programme Officers (DPOs) (ICDS, 2014). Anganwadi Workers are female, community-based honorary frontline workers for the ICDS program. According to the ICDS, each Anganwadi Worker is "also an agent of social change, mobilizing community support for better care of young children, girls and women" (ICDS, 2014). The roles and responsibilities for each worker are clearly delineated in government documents, and contain the same set of baseline roles across states. Anganwadi Workers and Anganwadi Helpers are paid 1500 rupees (USD\$24) and 750 rupees (USD\$12) per month, respectively (ICDS, 2014). Additionally, Auxiliary Nurse Midwives (ANM) and Accredit Social Health Activists (ASHA) work together to provide a variety of services for women and children in India.

The ICDS makes up the largest integrated early childhood program in the world, with 80,211 Anganwadi centers in Bihar alone (ICDS Bihar). The populations historically eligible to receive services through the ICDS Anganwadi centers are children under six years old and pregnant and lactating women in the reproductive age group (15-45); eligibility for these services is currently under revision according to the National Food Security Act, as described later in this review (ICDS, 2014).

Beyond the provision of health services, the ICDS provides support for women's empowerment. In Bihar, over 34,000 Self Help Groups have been formed and 24 Women Helplines have been established. These programs were not investigated through this research, but may be considered for future evaluation due to the crucial need for women's empowerment to achieving the right to food.

ICDS Poorak Poshaahar Yojana Scheme

The Poorak Poshaahar Yojana Scheme of ICDS provides supplementary nutrition take home rations worth between 2 and 6 rupees (USD\$0.03-0.10) to a limited number of children between six months and six years of age, pregnant and lactating women, and adolescent girls. Each Anganwadi center is instructed to cover an average of 16 pregnant or lactating women and three adolescent girls under this scheme. This scheme is funded evenly by the central and state governments, and currently benefits 790,000 children and women (ICDS, 2014). The beneficiaries for this scheme are identified by the Anganwadi workers, and provisions are given alongside other routine services at the Anganwadi centers (ICDS, 2014). While this scheme was on-going at the time of data collection, provisions of rations to women was expanded in the National Food Security Act.

Public Distribution System

The Public Distribution System (PDS) began as a system for affordable food grain distribution and scarcity management in response to the Indian food shortages in the 1960s, and has remained a critical component in the Indian government's approach to securing the right to food (ICDS, 2014). Rations from the Public Distribution System are intended to be supplemental provisions, not the primary means of food resources for any given household.

Until 1992, the PDS was a general entitlement scheme for urban consumers, and was further expanded as the Revamped Public Distribution system in an arrangement of 1,775 blocks throughout the country. The current system, which took effect in 1997, is the Targeted Public Distribution System. Under this system, states have to clearly define and implement identification systems for targeted distribution to all individuals under a certain income level. At

the time of implementation, the TPDS was projected to cover 652.03 lakh (65,203,000) families at an allocation of up to 35kg food grains per family, per month. In 2011-2012, India procured 63.4 million metric tons of rice and wheat, and the PDS delivered 513 million tons of grains at subsidized prices to 530 million people (IFPRI, 2013). The cost of such programming has risen from \$0.6 billion in 1992 to \$16.7 billion in 2012, largely due to the increasing cost of cereals (IFPRI, 2013).

The TPDS is a jointly run system by India's Central and State governments; the Central government is responsible for procurement, storage, transportation, and allocation of grains to states, and the State governments are responsible for the identification of recipients, issuance of ration cards, and supervision of distribution shops. Currently, the PDS commodity provision includes unfortified wheat, rice, sugar, and kerosene oil in all states, and some states opt to include commodities such as pulses, edible oils, and iodized salt.

To identify eligible families (referred to as BPL, or "Below Poverty Line" families), the attendees of the 1996 Food Minister's Conference determined that states would use the population projections from the 1993-1994 Planning Commission state-wide poverty estimates in conjunction with qualitative identification of beneficiaries by Gram Panchayats and Gram-Sabhas. This system, however, was recently overhauled by the implementation of India's National Food Security Act of 2013, as each state has been asked to redefine their BPL populations.

Indian Right to Food Campaign and Movement

The Constitution of India establishes the "protection of life and personal liberty" (Article 21) and "the raising of the level of nutrition and the standard of living of its people and the

improvement of public health" (Article 47) as fundamental responsibilities of the Indian government. The Right to Food Campaign is a citizen-led "attempt to realise the aspirations and guarantees enshrined" in this document. The Indian Right to Food Campaign launched in April of 2001, when the People's Union for Civil Liberties, Rajasthan filed a writ petition to the Supreme Court of India demanding that the national food stocks and reserves be used "without delay to protect people from hunger and starvation" (RFC, 2015). This petition led to minor discussions within the court system, but the delay to tangible change instigated the gradual growth of an expansive public movement to sustain this campaign.

The Right to Food Campaign demands multi-sectoral political approaches to ensuring the protection of life through the right to food, particularly including a national Employment Guarantee Act, land and forest rights, universalization of public food ration systems, and effective implementation of all nutrition-related schemes (RFC, 2015). Participants in the Right to Food Campaign initiate public hearings, conventions, rallies, advocacy, and research to further the movement.

India's National Food Security Act

Despite running the largest safety net food program in the world for over 30 years, India has seen very little reduction in the malnutrition across the population (IFPRI, 2013). In an effort to expand the number of people receiving benefits and improve nutrition and in response to the expanding political strength of the Right to Food Campaign, Indian policymakers drafted the National Food Security Act; this act aims to expand provisions by granting a legal right to food for two-thirds of the Indian population.

Passed by the Indian Parliament on September 10, 2013, the National Food Security Act allows food stockpiles to be created for slow release and price increase mitigation in an effort to increase food resources for millions of low-income individuals across the country (Sajjanhar and Gokarn, 2013). This act was designed to "provide for food and nutritional security in human life cycle approach, by ensuring access to adequate quantity of quality food at affordable prices to people to live a life with dignity and for matters connected therewith or incidental thereto" (NFSA, 2013). The overall objective of this bill is to guarantee affordable food grains to 70% of the country's population, with an intention to alleviate chronic hunger across the nation. With a cost of over \$18 billion, this act is intended to cover 75% of India's rural population and 50% of the urban population (Sajjanhar and Gokarn, 2013). Specifically, provisions outlined in the act relevant for maternal and child nutrition and food security include:

- 1) "Every person belonging to priority households... shall be entitled to receive five kilograms of foodgrains per person per month at subsidised prices specified... from the State Government under the Targeted Public Distribution System"
- 2) "The entitlements of the persons belonging to the eligible households... at subsidised prices shall extend up to seventy-five percent of the rural population and up to fifty percent of the urban population"
- 4) "Every pregnant woman and lactating mother shall be entitled to— (a) [daily hot or take-home] meal, free of charge, during pregnancy and six months after the child birth, through the local Anganwadi, so as to meet the nutritional standards [as according to Schedule II]... and (b) maternity benefit of not less than rupees six thousand"
- 5) "Every child up to the age of fourteen years shall have the following entitlements for his nutritional needs, namely:— (a) in the case of children in the age group of six months to

six years, age appropriate meal, free of charge, through the local Anganwadi ... (b) in the case of children ... six to fourteen years ... one mid-day meal, free of charge, everyday, except on school holidays, in all schools run by local bodies ... Every school ... and Anganwadi shall have facilities for cooking meals, drinking water and sanitation" (NFSA.)

Concerns about the Impact of the National Food Security Act

As can be seen from this list of provisions, the primary platforms for implementation of the National Food Security Act are the ICDS Anganwadi system and the Public Distribution System. The NFSA is not without controversy; in particular, members of the Right to Food Campaign have expressed dissatisfaction with the provisions of the Act. Campaign members claim that the provisions fall "woefully short of [the] government's own norm for nutritional requirement of a person" and that the change from government-entitled 35 kg of grain per household to 5 kg grains per person goes against the "intent of the bill" and previous government action to support the right to food (USDA, 2013). One of the NFSA's goals is to provide nutrition security. However, contributions to food security – particularly in the form of coarse grain provision – do not necessarily contribute to nutrition security; the provision of 5kg of coarse grain per person per month has been regarded as "too focused on calories and not on diet diversity," limiting the nutritional impact on intended beneficiaries (Choudhary, 2014).

The Brookings Institute similarly identified the NFSA as a minimal impact, high-cost intervention; currently, India spends more funding on food subsidies, price support, and price stabilization than it does on other sectors such as health and education (Sajjanhar and Gokarn, 2013). Before the NFSA was enacted, the TPDS system was regarded as one of the most inefficient social safety net programs in the world, due to poor targeting, high leakage, and cost

inefficiency; the NFSA increases expenditure on this safety net, without vastly reforming or mitigating any of these challenges (IFPRI, 2013). The Brookings Institute suggests that the food-stockpiling program that is part of the NSFA will only increase the costs associated with the food subsidy programs, and not necessarily lead to positive improvement in food security across the country. Additionally, suppressing the cost of food for low-income populations may do more harm than good; higher food prices lead to higher wages for sellers, and thus higher payment for these foods could be more effective means for reducing rural poverty (Sajjanhar and Gokarn, 2013).

Food Security Act Implementation in Bihar

Per government mandate, each state is responsible for the implementation and eligibility decision-making for the National Food Security Act. Each state was mandated to begin implementation of the new act by July 2014, nearly one year after the act was passed. However, the deadline was extended to October 2014 after many states failed to adequately prepare for implementation; on October 9, 2014, the deadline was again expended until April 2015 (Hindu, 2014). As of April 2015, 6 states had partially implemented the law (Delhi, Himachal Pradesh, Karnataka, Chandigarh, Madhya Pradesh and Bihar) and only 5 states had fully implemented the law (Haryana, Rajasthan, Punjab, Chhattisgarh and Maharashtra)(Hindu, 2015; Hindu, 2014). On April 3, 2015, the government further extended the deadline to October 2015 (Hindu, 2015). The continued delay of implementation of the Act is an increasingly prevalent cause for concern for political leaders and Right to Food Campaign advocates in India.

Bihar began the implementation of the National Food Security Act in February 2014; at the time that this research was conducted, the NFSA was partially implemented in Bihar.

According to the law's general provisions, around 86.7% of Bihar's rural population and 73.2% of the urban population should fall under the provision of the act; the annual allocation of grains should rise by over 110% compared to the allocation under the current TPDS (Choudhary, 2014). Because the Antyodaya Yojana grain provision scheme continues to function for the poorest of the poor families (35kg of grains provided monthly), 54% of Bihar should also receive these additional food grains (Choudhary, 2014). Given limited implementation of the NFSA in Bihar, the following thesis aims to provide a baseline understanding of the context surrounding the NFSA in the state, especially as it pertains to achieving food and nutrition security for women of reproductive age.

Chapter 3: Methods

This study was carried out in partnership with CARE India, which is implementing the Integrated Family Health Initiative (IFHI) in Bihar. The IFHI aims to improve maternal and newborn health outcomes through strengthened maternal care, newborn care, nutrition, immunization, and family planning. CARE India is the implementing agency for the IFHI program; Emory University serves as the program's technical advising entity for nutrition.

This study was a cross-sectional qualitative study designed to gain a comprehensive understanding of current experiences and opinions related to the barriers and facilitators of supply, distribution, and access to nutrition entitlements, programs, and other provisions in Bihar; these experiences include PDS Shopkeepers' management and distribution of grain rations, Anganwadi Workers' provision of goods and services to women of reproductive age, husbands' and mothers-in-law's role in maternal food and nutrition security, and women's roles and experiences related to household food procurement and provision.

The study was designed and tools were piloted in April and May 2014, data collection was conducted between June and August 2014, and data analysis and write-up of findings occurred from September 2014 through April 2015. Two research assistants conducted all interviews and discussions while the two student researchers recorded and took detailed field notes during data collection. Staff located in the CARE India Bihar office as well as at Emory University supported study design and data collection efforts. The primary data collection and analysis procedures are described below in detail.

Study location

Data collection took place within the Nalanda district in Bihar. Nalanda was selected as the focus district due to its proximity to Patna, the city in which the research team resided throughout the data collection period, and because of CARE India's established programmatic presence in the area. In the Nalanda district, the northeastern Hilsa block was selected for the same reasons. Within Hilsa, two panchayats (villages) were purposively selected as the main geographic areas of focus for their diversity, distance, availability of adequate participants, and recommendation by CARE India staff. Based on the CARE India IFHI presence and monitoring data within Hilsa, the Block Coordinator identified appropriate panchayats. Both panchayats were accessible by vehicle and were traveled to daily from Patna during the data collection period.

Study population

The study population consisted of community members with pregnant and/or lactating women in the household as well as local providers of the identified nutrition and food entitlement programs. The household members included mothers, husbands, and mothers-in-law; each of these participants had to currently be pregnant or have a pregnant woman in the household and/or have a child less than two years old in the household to be considered eligible for participation. The local providers included Anganwadi worker leaders and local PDS shop owners, with no specific eligibility requirements other than providing services in the specified panchayats. A total of 16 in-depth interviews and 7 focus group discussions were conducted.

Description of the Study Population

PDS Shopkeepers and Shops

In this study, four PDS Shopkeepers were interviewed. Of these interviewees, three were male and one was female. The age of Shopkeepers ranged between 21 and 60, and their employment history as a PDS dealer ranged between 1.5 and 25 years. Education levels ranged between 9th grade and 12th grade (I.A.). The Shopkeepers represented Yadav (OBC), Bhumiar (UC), Paswan (OBC), and Kurmi (SC) castes.

Anganwadi Workers (AWWs)

The research team interviewed four Anganwadi Workers who ranged in age between 27 and 40. Their experience as an AWW ranged between 10 and 15 years. The AWWs represented Paswan (OBC) and Kurmi (SC) castes.

Pregnant and Lactating Women

A total of 8 pregnant and lactating women, aged 16-27, were interviewed. The number of children ranged between 1 and 7. The majority of women indicated that they had very little schooling, and were illiterate. Detailed demographic characteristics can be seen in table 1.

Husbands and Mothers-in-Law

Demographic information for husband and mother-in-law focus group participants was not collected during the study.

Table 1: Characteristics of In-Depth Interviewees

Pregnant/ Lactating	Age	Children	Caste***	Education	Occupation	Aware of AWC services	Accesses AWC services	Aware of PDS services	Accesses PDS services
Panchaya	t 1								
L	20	3	Bind (OBC)**	Illiterate	Husband does manual labor	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
L	*	7	*	*	*	No	No	Yes	No (long term)
L	23	*	Gupta (OBC)	Illiterate	*	Yes	No	Yes	No (long term)
P	17	*	Kurmi (OBC)	Illiterate	*	Yes	No	Yes	No (long term)
L	27	5	Baldar (SC)	Illiterate	Both work in brick kilns	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Panchaya	t 2								
P	25	3	Kumhar (SC)	5 th grade	Husband is "compounder"	Yes	No	Yes	No (long term)
L	24	3	Jaiswal**	Illiterate	Husband makes furniture	Yes	Yes	Yes	No (Short term)
L	16	1	Yadav (OBC)**	Illiterate	Husband unemployed	Yes	Yes	Yes	No (Short term)

^{*} Information was not identified in interview

Study team

The Bihar-based study team consisted of 7 individuals: 2 Emory University student researchers, 2 local female research assistants, 2 Emory University/IFHI staff, and the Nutrition

^{**} Caste group was not defined in transcript

^{***} Scheduled Castes (SC), Scheduled Tribes (ST), and Other Backward Classes (OBC) are historically the most disadvantaged population in India

Expert for the CARE IFHI Program. In June 2014, the Emory University student researchers led a two-day intensive qualitative research methods and ethics training for the research assistants; the entire Bihar-based study team attended this training. This training involved a series of presentations discussing the research goals and objectives, rationale to use qualitative methods for this study, fundamentals of qualitative questioning and appropriate probing, principles of the Belmont Report, and obtaining consent and maintaining confidentiality. Additionally, each of these components was addressed through simulation of interviews and focus group discussions and scenario-based case studies led by the Emory student researchers.

Recruitment

A CARE India Hilsa Block Coordinator and the study's two research assistants facilitated recruitment of all participants. To recruit AWW and PDS shopkeeper participants, the Hilsa Block Coordinator used total population purposive sampling in order to recruit all AWW leaders and PDS shopkeepers in the two panchayats. The Hilsa Block Coordinator directed the study team to each AWW leader's or PDS shopkeeper's home to carry out recruitment. To recruit pregnant and lactating women, AWW leaders utilized convenience sampling to identify and lead the study team to the nearest eligible pregnant and lactating women. To recruit mothers-in-law and husbands, the Hilsa Block Coordinator and research assistants used snowball sampling to identify and assemble eligible individuals for recruitment.

Development of Data Collection Tools

In order to develop the qualitative data collection tools, the two Emory student researchers first determined the desired discussion themes for each participant group. They then

developed English-language semi-structured interview and focus group discussion guides. After preliminary development, the guides were sent to Emory staff experts in qualitative research methods for review. After incorporating reviewer changes, the interview and discussion guides were translated into Hindi by a local translator. The translated guides were then piloted in indepth interviews and focus group discussions with target populations in the Patna district. Feedback from tool piloting was incorporated into the final Hindi-language versions of the data collection tools.

In-depth interviews with pregnant and lactating women

IDIs used a semi-structured interview guide designed for the target population (Appendix 1). IDIs lasted between 15 and 45 minutes, with an average length of 30 minutes. Topics covered in these discussions included typical food acquisition and consumption; challenges related to food security; the purchase, preparation, and intra-household allocation of food resources; household expenditure; household food insecurity; and utilization and perceptions of food and nutrition support provided by the Anganwadi Centers and Public Distribution System. A total of 8 IDIs with pregnant (n=2) and lactating (n=6) women were conducted across the two panchayats.

In-depth interviews with Anganwadi Workers

IDIs used a semi-structured interview guide designed for the target population (Appendix 2). IDIs lasted between 30 and 75 minutes, with an average length of 45 minutes. Topics covered in these discussions included responsibilities of AWWs; work with adolescent, pregnant, and lactating women; awareness and participation in community food and nutrition support;

perceptions of barriers and facilitators to improved nutrition practices; and changes necessary for improved maternal nutrition. A total of 4 IDIs with Anganwadi Workers were conducted across the two panchayats.

In-depth interviews with PDS shopkeepers

IDIs used a semi-structured interview guide designed for the target population (Appendix 3). IDIs lasted between 20 and 40 minutes, with an average length of 30 minutes. Topics covered in these discussions included the role of PDS shops in the community; the type and methods of product supply; the methods and experiences of distribution; and perceptions of the effectiveness of the Public Distribution System. A total of 4 IDIs with PDS shopkeepers were conducted across the two panchayats.

Focus group discussions with husbands and mothers-in-law

FGDs used a semi-structured discussion guide designed for the target population (Appendix 4). FGDs lasted between 30 and 80 minutes, with an average length of 45 minutes. Topics covered in these discussions included household decision making surrounding food and nutrition purchases, preparation, and consumption and awareness, use, and perceptions of nutrition support programs. A total of 7 FGDs with husbands (n=4) and mothers-in-law (n=3) were conducted across the two panchayats, with 4-8 participants in each group.

All FGDs and IDIs were conducted by at least one trained research assistants and attended and recorded (in audio and detailed observation notes) by at least one Emory student researcher.

Ethical considerations

The Emory University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved this study under an expedited review, as it poses minimal risk, meets the criteria for permissible research with pregnant women, and is intended to provide evidence-based recommendations to CARE and Emory for future maternal nutrition programming. The Emory student researchers were both CITI-certified and all research assistants who assisted with recruitment and the facilitation of the IDIs and FGDs were trained on qualitative and ethical data collection. Additionally, all staff involved in the collection and handling of the data were instructed to keep the content of the focus group discussions private and confidential.

All IDIs and FGDs were recorded once verbal informed consent was received from each participant. In order to protect against coercion or undue influence, all participants were informed that their participation in this study was to remain completely voluntary; they were given the options to not answer any questions that were not applicable or made them feel uncomfortable and to stop their participation at any point. The research assistants also reminded participants that their responses would not negatively influence the benefits they receive from CARE India during and beyond the data collection period. All data were de-identified and names were removed from transcribed transcripts. The IDIs and FGDs took place in community centers, personal homes, or AWW homes where discussion was private, safe, and comfortable for participants.

To maximize the comprehensibility and voluntariness of the informed consent process, the research team included research assistants that speak, read, and write fluently in Hindi, the language of the participants. During the first stage of translations, a local translator translated

data collection and consent documents from English to Hindi. During the second stage of translation, the research assistants verified and corrected the Hindi translations. The research assistants then conducted informed consent, interviews, and discussion moderations entirely in Hindi. All hard copies of collected data were kept in the strict possession of study team members, and all electronic documents were kept on password-protected laptops of study team members.

Data analysis

All IDIs with pregnant and lactating women were recorded with permission and then transcribed verbatim in Hindi before being translated into English. All FGDs with mothers-in-law and husbands and IDIs with AWWs and PDS shopkeepers were recorded with permission, debriefed with facilitators after the discussion, and then transcribed as detailed summaries in Hindi. For all transcriptions, important Hindi words and phrases were left in the transcript in brackets. A CARE India/Emory staff member then checked a sample of Hindi transcripts against the English transcripts for quality and accuracy and edited when necessary. The same staff member then translated all transcriptions from Hindi into English.

Coding of data was completed using the qualitative analysis software MaxQDA version 11. All transcripts were read through line-by-line, and were memoed to capture emerging themes. After each transcript was read and memoed twice, inductive and deductive codes were applied. The codebook (Appendix 4) contained 42 codes. Data analysis was completed using the principles of thematic analysis (Hennick et al, 2010).

Limitations

There were a variety of limitations in this research, though each was an expected component of global research, surrounding sampling, community engagement, and language barriers. Study team members mitigated each limitation to the maximum extent possible.

Because the sampling techniques often relied on convenience sampling, it is likely that many viewpoints were not represented within the sample. However, the study team made a concerted effort to design data collection in two different blocks in order to include a wider variety of participants than would be available in one block. Additionally, relying on different people and strategies at different stages of recruitment led to a more varied sample than would otherwise have been selected by one person or strategy; the participants represented a variety of Scheduled Castes and Other Backward Classes, but there was not religious diversity or members of Upper Castes.

Though participants were eager to be a part of this study, the presence of a study team and/or foreigner seemed to be a distracting factor to many of the participants and their community members. Large crowds often gathered around study team members as participants were being recruited, which resulted in delayed and fragmented recruitment. While this did not seem to greatly impact any of the data collection, it should be noted.

While the study team made every attempt to conduct the interviews and discussions in a private setting, there were many instances in which the presence of additional family or community observers was unavoidable. In most cases, these observers were unobtrusive, but in some cases, would interrupt the discussion. On these occasions, the research assistants would remind observers to not interrupt, which usually prevented future interruptions. While these observers or interruptions may have influenced some of the data collected, the study team does

not believe this influence is significant and these challenges were perceived as necessary in order to conduct the discussions in a convenient location for the participants.

Finally, while one of the student researchers and one research assistant spoke both Hindi and English, the other student researcher had no knowledge of the Hindi language and the other research assistant had little knowledge of the English language. This resulted in a fragmented ability to communicate as a group, and required constant translation between research team members. In order to maximize the amount of information shared between team members, daily debrief sessions were held in Hindi and translated into English to summarize the information gathered during over the course of the day and to inform research decisions by the student researchers.

Chapter 4. Results

A set of salient findings emerged through analysis of in-depth interview and focus group discussion data. Across entitlement providers and beneficiaries in both panchayats, discussion related to community food and nutrition security, food related household roles and responsibilities, prioritization of women's health, perceptions related to supply, demand, and provision of entitlements, and community engagement in demand and advocacy for change were common. Each of these themes helps provide a deeper understanding of the implementation of food and nutrition security programs in Bihar, and can provide guidance for future implementation of the National Food Security Act and the realization of the right to food.

General status of community food and nutrition security

Theme 1: Women and their families feel knowledgeable about what foods they should eat to be healthy, but are not able to obtain the food that they want and need because they have limited financial resources

To gain an understanding of maternal dietary intake, pregnant and lactating women were asked about what they eat on a typical day. The diets of women were fairly consistent: rice, roti (flatbread), dal (pulses), and some vegetables; respondents said that "those who have access to water" and "money" tended to have their own agricultural lands to grow these foods, while the others relied more heavily on the local Hilsa market or purchased foods "close by" at the panchayat shops. When asked about what type of vegetables are eaten, women said that they ate mostly potatoes; many indicated that they wanted to purchase leafy green vegetables, but they were unaffordable and/or unavailable.

"R: Currently, we are only eating potatoes in vegetables. We are not eating green leafy vegetables. I feel like eating them, but we are not.

I: Why?

R: There is no money, that's why." - Lactating Woman, Panchayat 1

Two women indicated that they ate a diet primarily of roti and salt, largely because of financial limitations; one woman said that her husband gives her and her 3 children just 10-20 rupees (USD\$0.15 - \$0.32) per week for food and she "never had the fate of eating green leafy vegetables," and the other said that the family's funds have been "used up" on healthcare costs for a sick child. Three of the participants said that they had non-vegetarian food (chicken, fish, etc.) 1-4 times a month, generally when the husband was visiting home from work in Patna.

The inability to purchase nutritious foods due to financial constraints was echoed in the husband and mothers-in-law focus groups; almost all participants said that women have little ability to access foods that provide good nutrition and "bring them strength" due to insufficient funds. Focus group participants in both panchayats provided similar explanations including, "it depends on finances; when they have money, it's there or it's not there," "there's financial trouble in the village," and "even if they want to, they can't do much due to poverty."

Whether or not woman are able to purchase what they consider nutritious foods, each woman indicated that they have or currently feel food insecure though frequency of severity varied across participants; two women indicated that they have food shortages between 4-8 times per month, one said that they "rarely" have food shortages, and one indicated that the patterns of food insecurity are seasonal. Women said that they cope with food insecurity by eating less food during shortages, borrowing from neighbors, taking out a loan, or calling their husband to bring more food from Patna.

Based on the in-depth interviews with Anganwadi Workers, the Anganwadi Worker perceptions of barriers to good nutrition conflicted with those raised by women and their families. The Anganwadi Workers typically blamed women's low education, their "backwards" status, or their unwillingness to listen; poverty as a determinant was mentioned secondary to these factors. For example, three of the AWWs explained that the biggest barrier surrounds knowledge and education. One AWW said that the government is supporting change with the provision of education-based AWC programs, but that this change is occurring "slowly-slowly." She further described that her impact as an AWW may be limited because AWWs "are from [the community] so [women] don't listen... if someone comes from higher up, then they will listen." However, another AWW believed that community women did not listen to health education because of their "backward" status; for this reason, she provided limited health education to pregnant and lactating women. Interestingly, this AWW was of the Kurmi Caste, one of the "Other Backward Classes" in Bihar.

"I: Okay didi. Have you ever counseled a woman on her health and she has shown improvements?

R: I do counsel, but no one listens over here.

I: Why don't they listen?

R: It's a backward caste right, that's why these people don't listen. Sometimes, some people even tell them not to listen.

I: Who?

R: The mother in law. Here, it's all the "lauta" and "manjhi" caste- they don't listen.

I: Okay didi. Here, what do you think are the main three barriers for woman's nutrition?

R: Due to the poverty line, they don't listen, they're crooked." – Anganwadi Worker,

Panchayat 2

Food-related household roles and responsibilities

Theme 2: Women are responsible for food preparation and serving, but have limited decisionmaking power with regards to purchase and acquisition

Within most households, women have very little decision-making power over food resources. Interviews with women indicated that other family members hold responsibility for such decisions and purchases, particularly the parents-in-law (n=3) or husbands (n=3). The husbands also said that the "guardian" or the "chief" of the household (most often the paternal grandfather) determines which foods will be purchased and then acquires the food. Interestingly, the mothers-in-law rarely cited themselves as engaged in decision-making surrounding food; instead, they indicated that either the "owner" of the house, elder males, or son and daughter-in-law make these decisions.

"I: Who decides what will be bought?

R: All things are decided by the two of them [Mother-in-Law and Father-in-Law]. They are the 'guardians'" – Lactating Woman, Panchayat 1

Though women were not often engaged with household decision-making, most were able to identify what they perceived to be the biggest household expenditures. The largest perceived expenditures were on healthcare (n=6), household food (n=5), and children's education (n=2). However, only three of the eight women were able to discuss how much money they believe their household spends on food, as well as how much more they would like to spend on food; the range spent on food per month was between 3,000 and 10,000 rupees (USD\$50-\$160), and the additional amount requested was between 2,500 and 5,000 rupees (USD\$40-\$50). The other

women did not understand the question, or did not seem to know the monetary value of food because they were not engaged with food purchasing.

"I: Now we will talk about your household expenses. In your house, what do you spend most on, in each month?

R: [silent]

I: what are most expenses on?

R: Do you think that I'm the guardian, madam?

. . .

I: Is this fixed that how much you spend on food, how much on spices? And anything fixed on this? Do you have any information?

R: Fix- what would I know?! The guardian would know!" – Lactating Woman, Panchayat 2

Though women are rarely engaged with food acquisition, each individual and group said that mothers were the ones that prepared and served food in the household. When asked why these women were the ones responsible for cooking, groups most often indicated that "this is the way of our society" or "this is the custom." Mother-in-law participants said that if the woman could not cook because she worked outside of the house, another young woman or the mother-in-law would help cook; however, the one working mother interviewed said that she cooked the food for her family on top of her work responsibilities.

Prioritization of women's nutrition and health

Theme 3: Husbands and mothers-in-law indicate that they are concerned about women's health, but women feel that their health is not prioritized over other family members' health

The women, husbands, and mothers-in-law were all asked about concerns household

members have for the health of pregnant and lactating women, as well as the perceived responsibilities for ensuring maternal health.

In focus group discussions, participants indicated widespread acknowledgement of concerns about women's health. Respondents in three of the husband groups indicated that they are the ones responsible for women's health, for reasons including, "the husbands vow to stay together through life and death, that's why they are responsible" and "whatever stuff needs to be bought from outside, has to be bought by the men." One of the husband groups said that the entire household comes together to look after a women's health. Similarly, all mothers-in-law said that they were responsible for their daughter-in-law's health "because they are the guardians" of the household. Though the person responsible for ensuring women's health differed between the groups, all groups indicated that women's health was a concern.

In individual interviews, women's expression of family members' concerns about their health varied widely. Only two women indicated that family members were concerned about maternal health, particularly related to the amount of rest and proper nutrition she is able to receive.

"I: Didi, you are a lactating mother now who is breastfeeding her child. Are the household members concerned about your health and wellness?

R: they do. Look- my mother in law brings me milk.

I: and what about rest?

R: yes, they say that I should rest. They never tell me to wake up at 4 am and keep doing work all day. Whenever you feel like, wake up and then do the work you need to. Make sure you sleep through the day." – Lactating Woman, Panchayat 1

The other 6 women expressed that maternal health was not a primary concern for any household member. In the majority of interviews, there was a prevalent theme of prioritizing children's wellbeing and futures over maternal health. Furthermore, some women expressed that other family members' health and wellbeing directly surpasses their concern for their own health:

"I: Okay didi. what do your mother in law and others at home worry about?

R: Why would they think about others.

I: Why?

R: Only his own body is dear to him.

I: What about eating and rest?

R: He tells me. But with five kids what can happen- how can I rest?

I: What do you think about for yourself?

R: What can I think? I leave three kids at home and go out to work. Their grandfather is blind and grandma has gone to her daughter's house. When she comes back, then I can go to work. Then I can earn some money and send it home, then the household can be managed." – Lactating Woman, Panchayat 1

When women were asked about who eats the least amount of food, particularly when there were food shortages, four women said that they eat the least amount of food; in contrast, four women said that they eat the most food in their household. One woman, who said that she eats most, also said that she would also eat least if there were a food shortage because she can "tolerate" it more than the children:

"I: Okay, you eat as hungry as you are. Okay. Now if you ever make food and it falls short, so who eats less?

R: The mother

I: Why

R: Now, once the kids have eaten then, the mother will eat whatever is left right. If there's anything left, she will eat. The mother can tolerate it for an hour. The kids will?"

- Lactating Woman, Panchayat 2

All of the husband groups said that the person who serves the food (their wife) is the one who eats least when food falls short, largely because she is the one who eats last. Similarly, all mother-in-law groups indicated that the one who serves the food is the one who will eat the least amount of food.

Perceptions of food and nutrition entitlement programs

Anganwadi Center

Awareness and utilization of programs

Theme 4: There is general awareness of Anganwadi Center programming, but lack of knowledge on specific entitlement eligibility and provisions

To understand the role of the Anganwadi Centers, the interviewers asked about the purpose of the Anganwadi Centers and responsibilities of the Anganwadi Worker. The AWWs explained that they work at the Center from 9 am - 1 pm every day, and described main responsibilities of immunizing children and pregnant women, educating people about take home rations, distributing take home rations, educating children, and referring malnourished women and children to larger health centers. While one Anganwadi worker explained that she did home visits daily, another AWW explained that she "heard from the office that we don't have to do home visits," thus the extent to which the Anganwadi Worker was engaged with the community women varied.

While the pregnant and lactating women did not understand the probed concepts of "entitlements" and "benefits" offered by the government, all but one were aware of the Anganwadi Center services for children and women. The majority of pregnant and lactating women, husbands, and mothers-in-law knew that the AWC provides dal and rice to women; however, knowledge of the amount that a woman received or was supposed to receive varied across participants. All women that were accessing and utilizing the Anganwadi Take Home Rations (n=4) were lactating, but two lactating women were not accessing any food provisions from the Anganwadi center. While one of the lactating women (who had 7 children) was unaware of the AWC program, the other used to access the AWC but did not offer an explanation as to why she does not currently receive any THR from the center.

"I: Have you heard about the AWC?

R: yes, but me and my kids aren't going anywhere now.

I: Didi, when you were pregnant, did you go there?

R: Yes. We had gone. We had got rice and dal. I hadn't gone. My mother in law went and got it." – Lactating Woman, Panchayat 1

All mothers-in-law were aware that pregnant and lactating women were entitled to rice and dal from the AWC, but the discussion of access varied across groups; only one group indicated that some participants' daughters-in-law were accessing the provisions and another group indicated that some of their daughters accessed the THR when they were pregnant, but are no longer receiving rations. Two of the groups expressed that they did not know why their daughters-in-law weren't selected to receive the THR, and looked to the research team for an explanation of eligibility.

All husbands were aware that lactating women were entitled to rice and dal rations from the AWC, but there were differing opinions about whether pregnant women were entitled to any rations from the AWCs from participants in Panchayat 2; one group in Panchayat 2 indicated that while these provisions are available for pregnant and lactating women in other panchayats, they indicated that the Anganwadi in their does not provide any THR. In Panchayat 1, Husbands said that there was a "limit" to which pregnant and/or lactating women received THR, but did not know the characteristics by which these recipients are selected.

"I: Do you know that there is supplementary rations given from the AWC?

R: Yes, yes, I know.

I: Who all get it?

R: I mean, here, a child from 1-3 years old. I can see that she gives the neighboring households Sir. She doesn't give anyone else, not even to pregnant women.

I: Pregnant women don't get it either?

R: No, no sir.

I: You are informed that pregnant women are supposed to get it?

R: *In my maternal home, they do give it, but not here.*

I: You don't get it here...

R: No." - Pregnant Woman, Panchayat 2

Entitlement Details and Selection of Beneficiaries

Theme 5: The limited capacity for providing maternal ICDS beneficiary services results in varied selection mechanisms and reduction of services provided

Each of the Anganwadi Workers explained that they provide 2.5-3 kilos of rice and 1.5 kilos of dal to 8 pregnant and 8 lactating women in their catchment area, per the ICDS guidelines (3 kg rice, 1.5 kg dal). However, the Anganwadi Workers used different strategies for selecting

beneficiaries, often based on observed poverty levels or the Anganwadi's personal determination of need.

"I: This program that is running through ICDS for the ration, how do you select the people?

R: We give it first to poor families.

I: How do you identify which ones are more poor?

R: We live in the village so we can observe who is having trouble eating, so we give it to them. When that ... happens, we choose as well.

I: Who chooses then?

R: A [community] member becomes the official and chooses the beneficiaries that are poor, so we give the rations to them." – Anganwadi Worker, Panchayat 2

"I: How do you choose them?

R: Those who come to me and tell me, I give it to them." – Anganwadi Worker, Panchayat 2

Though the Anganwadi Workers explained their processes for selecting beneficiaries, two AWWs explained that though they're only supposed to supply 8 pregnant and 8 lactating women with THR, they supply reduced quantities to all the women that come. Multiple Anganwadi Workers identified the fact that they have limited supplies and food provisions as a barrier to optimal women's health.

"I: What do you think are the three biggest barriers when it comes to maternal nutrition? R: we have problems with the THR. We have to give it only to 8 but 16 come to us. There are no other problems. We reduce the amount given to each one and give the ration to everyone because everyone starts fighting otherwise." – Anganwadi Worker, Panchayat 1

Perceptions of Programs

Theme 6: Community members feel positively about Anganwadi services, but desire more widespread and sizeable provisions

All of the participants that were receiving provisions from the Anganwadi Center felt positively about the programs; those that did not receive the provisions did not have any strong feelings about the programs because they did not receive them. Interestingly, the women who were not receiving rations from the AWC did not express discontent or frustration with the system or the fact that they were not receiving any supplemental rice or dal. The main reasons that women found the AWC provision to be helpful is that they had to spend less money on those servings of grains, did not have to go to the market to purchase additional grains, and that it was an overall increased amount of food available to them. However, the participants seemed to be skeptical of the true impact of the AWC provisions, due to the meager amount of food provided for short period of time.

I: So didi, have you heard of an AWW? Have you gotten any dry rations from them?
R: Yes, we do get it. Two days ago, we got 2 glasses of rice, 1 bowl of daal. They don't give a lot.

I: So is there any benefit from receiving this?

R: No, it only runs for two days. What can happen with just that much? If we get it, it's fine. If they stop giving it, that's also fine. – Lactating Woman, Panchayat 1

Across all mother-in-law groups, there was consensus that the provision was beneficial, but two groups expressed a desire for more widespread access to these rations and a larger quantity of rations. Each of the husbands FGD groups expressed discontent with the services

provided for their families by the Anganwadi based on the amount of people who are receiving THR and the quantity of THR received.

Public Distribution Scheme

Awareness and utilization of programs

Theme 7: There is wide awareness of PDS schemes, but access to rations is inconsistent

To understand the role of PDS shops in the community, the interviewers asked about the purpose of the PDS shop and responsibilities of the Shopkeeper. The Shopkeepers explained that the purpose of the PDS shop was to transfer food resources to the poor, and that their responsibility in this process was to maintain stocks, distribution, and records of all PDS rations and transactions. Each of the shops was open for 20-30 days out of the month.

Similar to experiences with the Anganwadi Center services, all participants were aware of the Public Distribution System, regardless of whether or not they were accessing the services. Most community members, Anganwadi Workers, and PDS Shopkeepers indicated that wheat could be purchased for 2 rupees (USD\$0.03) a kilo, and rice can be purchased for 3 rupees (USD\$0.05) a kilo; only some women that were not accessing the rations were unaware of the price of the rations.

Of the pregnant and lactating women, only two women in Panchayat 1 indicated that they actively receive PDS rations. Two women in Panchayat 2 said that they had been receiving rations over the past year, but had not received any in the past 3 months. This discrepancy was attributed to disparate ration card distribution within the communities; the new ration card created under the National Food Security Act was not distributed in either area at the time of this study.

"I: And now for the last two months-

R: We haven't gotten it

I: Why not?

R: We didn't get the paper. The coupon that you need, we haven't gotten that coupon." – Lactating Woman, Ahkbarpur

"R: Yes, we have just received- the amount from the neck to the head, that's how much rice and wheat we have got.

I: You just received it?

R: Yes, since one month. Now it's a new thing, so we are receiving it.

I: Have you got a new card made?

R: Just the ration one." - Lactating Woman, Panchayat 1

The other four women did not currently receive rations from the PDS, and had not been receiving them over the past year or longer.

Theme 8: Perceived corruption in the identification of eligible households, poor quality, and insufficient quantity undermine community and shopkeeper satisfaction with and trust in the Public Distribution System

The PDS Shopkeepers explained that they rely on a government-created list of beneficiaries to allocate rations. From these lists, the Shopkeepers maintain written registers that contain individuals' names and pictures, and they rely on this register for identification of beneficiaries. Unfortunately, Shopkeepers in both panchayats explained that those who are receiving the grains are not always those who need it; in both areas, wealthy individuals are

included on the lists, while many poor people are left off of the list. This process and challenge is best explained by a PDS Shopkeeper in Panchayat 1:

"I: Who are the appropriate people to pick up the rations from here?

R: This is Bihar no? Some are good people

I: Ahan

R: I mean, some are wealthy as well. They get their names in those surveys when people come. And then there are poor people, who are deprived.

I: They're not there

R: No

I: Who comes to do these surveys?

R: For the surveys, it's the officials of the government.

I: Okay, they're from the government.

R: Yes. They're the ones who go to choose and they make the cards for those people, and register their names.

I: Ahan

R: Dome officials come, they identify-

I: Ahan

R: They skip my name, they skip his name, if your name is there then that's when-

I: Yes yes

R: The cards that get made

I: Ahan

R: We have to give only to those who have ration cards

I: So you only give based on the card?

R: Yes, because I only get that much ration.

I: Yes, so you look at the card and give

R: Yes

I: But those who should get it have been left out

R: Yes

I: The wealthy people are getting it?

R: They're getting it." – PDS Shopkeeper, Panchayat 1

Furthermore, another Shopkeeper believed that government officials were modifying the beneficiary list in a way that reduced the number of beneficiaries, and increased the Shopkeeper's daily challenge of supporting community members.

"A lot of peoples' names have been skipped in this. Every time, the ministers or officials take out a few names. Those people who were getting it before are no longer getting it and they are creating a ruckus, they come here and tell us these things."

All of the mothers-in-law focus group participants were vocal about their perceptions of the PDS shops, particularly their frustrations with the reduction of benefits and beneficiaries included over the 6 months prior to this research; each group indicated that fewer individuals received grains from the PDS shop as compared to earlier. One of the mother-in-law groups in Panchayat 1 echoed the Shopkeepers' perceptions and said that "Those who are wealthy, they're getting it [the PDS provisions], those who are poor, are not."

With an understanding of how beneficiaries are selected, interviewers asked the PDS Shopkeepers about their experiences obtaining and distributing grains. Currently, the process to obtain grains requires the Shopkeeper to send money to the field coordinator, the field coordinator to purchase the grains and send an order slip to the Shopkeeper, and then the Shopkeeper to take the order slip to the distribution warehouse and pick up the allotted grains. Respondents said that the supply and distribution of grains was unreliable; PDS Shopkeepers in both panchayats said that while they are supposed to receive new stocks of grains once a month,

they had not received in the last 3-6 months. All three mother-in-law focus groups similarly indicated that grains had not been supplied for the past 2-6 months.

When grains were supplied, Shopkeepers from both panchayats indicated that the quantity of grains available from government often fell short from the quantity of grains required; this occurred both by providing fewer bags of grains than requested and also by providing less volume of grains per bag. One shopkeeper indicated that the limited remaining grains in their stores came from "some people who have gone away and didn't pick up their ration." The mothers-in-law in Panchayat 2 explained that over the past month, the very few grains that were recently distributed were less in quantity than allotted.

"I: Has it ever happened that you were distributing the grains, and the grains fell short?
R: This is Bihar Madam. The weighting of this stock is about 50 kg., but the "labour"
that bends to pick it up, or tosses it in the train- the hole is formed on that end but we find
less on this end." – PDS Shopkeeper, Panchayat 1

While two of the Shopkeepers initially said that the quality of grains received is "good," all four Shopkeepers eventually said that the grains provided by the government are often spoiled due to water or bug infestations. Interestingly, the responsibility for spoiled grains differed between respondents; the responses varied between "sometimes during the rains, the grains do get wet," "the grains that are kept in the godown, it's only natural that it will catch bugs," and another ascribed the issue to the government employees:

"There is even the issue of the SFC [field coordinator] who sometimes sells 2-4 quintals [200-400 kg] and then he fills the bags with water. When there is water in the sacks, it will have the same weight as it is supposed to. Due to this reason, that particular sack

gets sent with the pack, but when it gets to us we realize the grains have rotted... Another thing they do sometimes, is that they put cements in the sacks with the food." –PDS Shopkeeper, Panchayat 2

Because the varying quality of grains, certain populations have opted to not eat the rice or re-sell it, while others eat it because it is their only option:

"[We] don't eat the ration because it's not worth eating. It's infested with worms and bugs. The one who is really poor has to eat it out of compulsion. Most often, the rice is bad. Some people sell the rice in the market and buy other rice." – Husbands FGD, Panchayat 2

The husband FGD participants were less vocal about challenges related to the identification of beneficiaries and receiving ration cards, but expressed frustration related to the quality of grains provided by the PDS Shops. Groups in both panchayats indicated that the quality of grains is so poor that they cannot eat them (as described above), and therefore do not benefit from them.

Interestingly, many of the pregnant and lactating women were strongly opinionated regarding the PDS rations, despite the fact that the majority was not currently accessing the rations and that they were not the ones that retrieved the rations when available. Largely, the women viewed the PDS rations favorably, saying "it's support for the poor man," but also questioning the benefit when the rations are not received:

"I: what did you say? Like whatever you are getting from these programs, what do you think, are there any needs for improvements?

R: there is a need for improvement

I: what kind?

R: I mean if we get it, then there will be some benefit right? If we're not getting the paper itself, then what benefit will there be?" – Lactating Woman, Panchayat 2

The women were also the only participants that mentioned the benefits realized from selling PDS rations, which was indicated as a common practice when the grains were spoiled or when the family was looking to make a profit off of the rations:

"I: This [entitlement] benefits people?

R: here, if he gives it in less money, then there, at the market, people sell it for Rs. 14 per kilo. Even yesterday, I sold it for 64 rupees/kilo and bought it for 16 rupees/kilo when I didn't have money. I... got it for three rupees per kilo at the ration shop. So did I not benefit?

I: You have a profit." – Pregnant Woman, Panchayat 2

Community engagement in demand and advocacy for change

Theme 9: Community members exhibit a high level of entitlement provider mistrust and do not feel that they have the power to demand the right to food

Much of the mistrust in the PDS system seemed to stem from the unstable provision of rations through the PDS shop, including the misallocation of provisions to wealthier families as well as the reduction of benefits to families who previously had access to PDS rations.

Some individuals believed that PDS Shopkeepers are the ones responsible for reduction in grains; when asked how many grains a household gets in a year, one mother-in-law group from Panchayat 1 said that they get six months' worth, and the other six months' worth is "eaten up by the dealer." Additionally, the mother-in-law group in Panchayat 2 thought that the PDS

Shopkeeper was also responsible for reducing the number of beneficiaries, indicating that there "were eight names on the card but the dealer cut them and only left four." When the rations are not available, husbands in Panchayat 1 said that the PDS Shopkeeper "will give various reasonssometimes he'll say he dint get it, or he keeps it himself sometimes, he doesn't give us a straightforward reason."

PDS Shopkeepers described challenges to personal integrity as a result of the low financial compensation received by Shopkeepers. PDS Shopkeepers in Nalanda are offered 40 rupees commission per 100 kg of grain sold, which was considered to be very meager pay. Shopkeepers indicated that in other districts, PDS Shopkeepers are offered a salary or food provision as compensation. One Shopkeeper explained how it is difficult to survive off their commission, and how some Shopkeepers struggle with integrity on the job.

"It is with this same money that we can buy rations, pay our rents, buy the paper we need- everything comes from this commission. We have very little benefit from this which is why some people also "muddle" things up. Not all people are honest and neither are all people dishonest. There are all kinds of people." – PDS Shopkeeper, Panchayat 2

Additionally, one group of husbands in Panchayat 2 believed that the government is responsible for the poor quality and limited quantity of take home rations given at the Anganwadi Center.

"The 'Mukhiya's' [chief's] daughter in law is the Sevika [Head AWW]. The grains that have gone bad in the mukhiya's house are given to the people of the community and those people keep the ration that comes to the AWC. "– Husbands, Panchayat 2

The PDS Shopkeepers passed blame up the chain of command and indicate that short supplies in rations are a fault of the government actors that oversee them. One Shopkeeper in Panchayat 2 attributed fault to the lack of monitoring: "because here, they haven't done the right monitoring, that's why... they haven't examined everything here properly."

Compounding this mistrust, many of the participants expressed thoughts that can be perceived as feelings of disempowerment, or the feeling that they have little influence, power, or importance related to their legal rights to food entitlements. When participants indicated dissatisfaction with food and nutrition entitlements, they were asked how the situation could be improved; all participants indicated that they did not have a mechanism to suggest change, or did not believe that their concerns would influence change.

"I: How can this be improved?

R: If we receive "support" from someone then we could say something to those people who create these programs. No one is in front of us or behind us- we can't do anything even if we are willing." – Husbands, Panchayat 2

"I: Okay didi, what can be done at the AWC so women like you find it beneficial?
R: What can happen from what I say? – Lactating Woman, Panchayat 1

Without means to suggest change or belief that suggestions would lead to change, community members were unable to demand or advocate for their legal entitlements, and ultimately were prevented from realizing the right to food.

Chapter 5. Discussion

The objectives of this study were to provide a baseline assessment of current implementation of the National Food Security Act and other entitlement programs intended to improve maternal food and nutrition security in Bihar, as well as inform future implementation of these programs to better support the realization of the right to food. Laws alone are not sufficient for individuals – particularly women – to realize the right to food; non-discrimination, participation, and accountability are all factors of an enabling environment for the realization of the right to food (FAO, 2006). Due to the complicated nature of maternal undernutrition in Bihar, improvement in achieving the right to food will require a unified effort between government sectors and community actors; the following discussion elucidates the most salient study findings in relation to these necessary elements, and recommends next steps for research, programs, and policies to improve maternal nutrition in Bihar.

Women's Autonomy and Status in the Household

Across the majority of participants, there was consensus that women are not the primary decision-makers in the household for food acquisition, health seeking behavior, food allocation, and daily household responsibilities; household decisions and food-related behaviors are often left up to the "guardian" – a woman's husband or the elders. This finding is consistent with prior research done in rural India, indicating that women's decision-making autonomy is often limited due to cultural beliefs that constrain women's status, and is strongly associated with disparities in women's nutritional intake (Ramakrishnan, 2012; Menendez et al, 2006). Furthermore, there was consensus across most groups that a woman's household role is to prepare and serve food and look after the children; this also aligns with existing research and cultural beliefs regarding

household roles and dynamics in Southeast Asia (Noznesky et al, 2012). Similarly, there was a regular occurrence of women de-emphasizing concerns related to their own health, often prioritizing the health of their children or other family members over their own (Noznesky et al, 2012).

Chapter 6 of the National Food Security Act focuses on "Women's Empowerment," and includes provisions aimed at improving women's empowerment by naming the eldest woman (18 years or older) in each household the "head of household for the purpose of issue of ration cards" (NFSA, 2013). While naming females as heads-of-household indicates the intention of empowering women, the predominant cultural expectation of women's limited role in household decision-making and food acquisition remain key facets of women's disempowerment that prohibit improved maternal nutrition (Noznesky et al, 2012). Furthermore, enabling the "eldest" woman to be responsible for NFSA ration cards does not necessarily advance the empowerment of young mothers, as this stipulation further concentrates decision-making power in the hands of the mother-in-law in many households.

Because of women's low status and autonomy, women are not always empowered or equipped with the ability to positively impact their food and nutrition intake, even when they are knowledgeable about what types of foods they should eat for optimal health. Understanding the specific constraints that women face in accessing government nutrition programs due to their disempowerment is crucial for future implementation of the National Food Security Act in India. Interventions to secure the right to food must continue to gradually shift long-standing traditions and perceptions of women's roles, decision-making power, and need for prioritized health so that women are empowered to affect change related to her and her family's food and nutrition security.

Minimal Awareness of Entitlement Eligibility

Broadly, participants were aware of Anganwadi Center services for pregnant and lactating women and the Public Distribution System provisions, but were not well informed on eligibility criteria for participation in these programs. Without providing clear explanations of entitlement eligibility to the target populations, the Indian government limits the realization of the right to food; throughout this study, it was unclear whether individuals were not receiving food entitlements because they were not eligible, were unaware that they were eligible to receive food support, or because they were wrongly denied these supports. The Right to Food Guideline Number 11 focuses on education and awareness-raising of human rights, the right to food, and nutrition; not only does education on the right to food "strengthen duty-bearer's knowledge of their obligations," but it also assists "rights-holders, especially women, girls and children (the most vulnerable), in demanding accountability regarding their rights" (FAO, 2012). Based on the study finding that community members feel disempowered to demand regular access to highquality food entitlements, awareness-raising activities must not only target information on the right to food and entitlement eligibility, but also strategies for individuals to advocate for realization of their rights.

Overall, there are many limitations and few resources describing the eligibility criteria and status of National Food Security Act implementation in Bihar; clear eligibility guidelines must be established and made evident in order to increase individuals' ability to realize the right to food. One of the significant challenges of establishing clear eligibility guidelines stems from the state-level responsibility for identification of eligible populations, which leaves a great deal of room for fraudulent or misappropriated eligibility. According to recent news articles,

implementing states have been utilizing lists defined by the Department of Rural Development, the Socio-Economic and Caste Census (SECC) of 2011 to develop NFSA beneficiaries lists; however, SECC data was only available for 119 of India's 640 districts, 2 of those out of Bihar's 38 districts (Das, 2015). SECC household information for Bihar is still not complete or available; information for the block targeted in this research was indicated as available in January 2015, six months after research was conducted (SECC, 2015). These misallocations of eligibility may be continued in the future implementation of the NFSA, reducing access to many families and individuals that should be entitled to these programs. Concerns about the impact of imprecise eligibility criteria on the realization of the right to food are calling the intention of the act into question; the economist Jean Drèze reported that "in the absence of clear eligibility criteria, no one is really entitled to anything as a matter of right; this defeats the purpose of having a law" (Drèze, 2014).

The Indian Right to Food Campaign has made progress in education and awareness-raising related to the right to food, but the Indian government must define eligibility criteria and then increase activities to raise awareness and foster empowerment in order to better facilitate the realization of the right to food.

Limited Quantity and Quality of Entitlement Provisions

There were distinct challenges of quantity and quality of entitlement provisions in Bihar from both the beneficiary and provider perspectives. Women and men in Bihar expressed discontent with the limited amount of food that they received from providers, and were particularly dissatisfied with the quality of PDS rations; similarly, Anganwadi Workers felt constrained by the limited amount of food they were provided for a small amount of

beneficiaries, and Public Distribution Shopkeepers were challenged by delayed and reduced quantity and quality of rations received from the central distributors. The responsibility for poor quality and reduced quantity was attributed to individuals at all levels of the supply and demand system, but reflected evaluations carried out in other areas in Bihar that indicated a lack of accountability at multiple points throughout the supply chain (Abraham and Fraker, 2013; Noznesky et al, 2012). Without mechanisms in place to ensure delivery of adequate quantity and quality food entitlements, the right to food cannot be realized.

In 2013, IDinsight carried out an impact evaluation on Bihar's ICDS hot meal and take home ration provisions to quantify the extent and sources of program leakages and non-delivery. The evaluation, which utilized unannounced visits by independent surveyors, found that approximately 53% of allocated supplemental nutrition funds are not spent on the ground; this is particularly concerning based on the fact that ICDS has allocated USD \$200 million per year on this supplemental nutrition programming (Abraham and Fraker, 2013). According to this evaluation, 71% of funds intended for hot meals and 38% of take home ration funds are lost to leakage (Abraham and Fraker, 2013). Furthermore, visits to Anganwadi Centers in Bihar indicated that 24% of the Centers were closed during times they should have been open, and that meals were only served on 59% of the days on which meals should be served (Abraham and Fraker, 2013). While such leakages were not necessarily observed in Nalanda, the structural challenges may have impacted the lack of access to ICDS entitlements by the study population.

The leakages seen in the ICDS system are also observed in the Public Distribution System. According to recent estimates, anywhere between 40-90% of food grain distributed to PDS shops is lost due to leakages; the estimates for such leakage vary widely across studies and is highly disputed (Choudhary, 2014; Gulati, and Saini, 2015). Regardless of the proportion that

is leaked, supporting research indicates that the number is unacceptably high; much of this grain is sold in the open market at a higher price than the PDS shops, held by the PDS shopkeeper, distributed to non-card holders, spoiled, or is otherwise not benefitting the intended beneficiaries, as evidenced in this study (Choudhary, 2014). These prior experiences with the PDS before the NFSA may be propelled and exacerbated through the implementation of the NFSA, limiting the government's ability to improve food and nutrition security. In order to successfully implement the National Food Security Act, the Indian government must build accountability mechanisms into delivery systems to ensure that intended beneficiaries are receiving the provisions in the quantity and quality that they are entitled.

Programmatic Recommendations

This study revealed a widespread lack of agency as it relates to advocating for legal rights to food, and a sense of disempowerment. These two challenges can be mitigated by organizations such as CARE India through the development and implementation of community-empowerment focused activities in an effort to increase self-advocacy for legal rights; because the right to food is enshrined in Indian policy, citizens must become empowered to obtain their legal entitlements. Pregnant and lactating women and their families not only need to be well informed on the resources to which they are entitled, but must also be informed about strategies they can use to advocate for their legal right to these provisions. Programmatic interventions to improve families' awareness of the benefits to which they are entitled and support the development of self-advocacy strategies to demand access will improve their ability to obtain improved food and nutrition resources.

Policy Recommendations

This research uncovered a range of common challenges to realization of the right to food in Bihar that may be directly mitigated with targeted policy that (1) safeguards against delays in implementation, which has been observed in the postponed identification of eligible NFSA beneficiaries, (2) emphasizes a transparent and systematic mechanism for entitlement accountability, particularly of quality and quantity of grains, and (3) continues to strengthen efforts to improve women's empowerment. The following data-driven suggestions should be taken into consideration for amendments to current acts or future policy development.

- (1) Revision of the National Food Security Act and creation of other policies to support the right to food should institute safeguards for timely and transparent policy implementation, particularly of the identification of eligible individuals and families; such a safeguard may be the identification of eligible beneficiaries before the passage of a law. Without clearly defined eligibility lists, particularly during a transition between entitlement laws, accountability and demand for the right to food cannot occur.
- (2) The Indian government should strengthen accountability mechanisms that enable entitlement providers and recipients to report and receive reparation for poor quality and quantity of provisions. While the NFSA has required states to select a "Grievance Redressal Officer" within each district, no community members were aware of processes to air complaints about entitlement delivery; the delays in full implementation of the NFSA may prevent implementation of the limited measures that explicitly aim to empower citizens. Without clearly delineated set of steps to indicate the lack of fulfillment of legal entitlements and a transparent redressal mechanism, individuals are not receiving the support to which they are entitled.

(3) Additionally, long-term policies must continue to address the status of women through multi-sectoral policies that advance the economic and social empowerment of women. Examples of policies that are associated with women's empowerment and improvements in maternal nutrition include strengthening women's property and ownership rights and the expansion of conditional cash transfer entitlements specifically for pregnant and lactating women (van den Bold et al, 2013). While India has developed a variety of policies aimed to increase women's empowerment (van den Bold et al, 2013), strengthening these efforts should remain an explicit priority within the NFSA and other government food and nutrition policies to support the realization of the right to food.

Need for Future Research

While this study was able to identify whether or not women and their families were accessing governmental food and nutrition supports, the ability to understand why people were not accessing these resources was limited; it was not clear whether women were not eligible for these provisions, or were eligible but were not accessing them. This distinction is of critical importance, and requires a more detailed understanding of who is legally eligible for both Anganwadi Center rations and the PDS system under the National Food Security Act. This study indicated many instances of provisions falling into the hands of those who are not eligible due to misinformation and/or misbehavior by the provider, but further research needs to be done to attain uniform, legal understanding of eligibility to share with the beneficiaries.

Due to the recent and partial implementation of the National Food Security Act, future research is needed to better understand experiences accessing food and nutrition entitlements that fall under this act – particularly those of the Public Distribution System. It is unclear whether

those who are not receiving rations or ration cards from the PDS Shopkeepers due to issues of supply or entitlement. Based on this study, less people are accessing entitlements through the Public Distribution System than were before the National Food Security Act was implemented; the cause of this discrepancy must be determined.

Strengths and Limitations of Research

Due to the recent implementation of the National Food Security Act, very little research has been done to examine perceptions and experiences of the act's provisions. This thesis provides timely and much needed research on potential facilitators and barriers to more effective and scaled implementation of the National Food Security Act in Bihar, particularly as it relates to the two largest food and nutrition entitlement provision systems – the Anganwadi Center network and the Public Distribution System. Data from this research is strong due to the inclusion of both entitlement providers and beneficiaries.

This study is limited by its sample size and saturation. The data collected for this study included only two panchayats in one district; it is important to note that the results only reflect what is happening in this area, and cannot be used to understand the implementation of the National Food Security Act across Bihar. However, this information still serves as a baseline for what is happening within these panchayats, and may be reflective of implementation on a larger scale. Furthermore, this sample size was limited and did not lead to saturation of the data.

Conclusion

Maternal food and nutrition security is critical not only for the healthy development of individuals, but also of entire societies. The Indian government seeks to support realization of the

constitutional human right to food for its citizens, particularly women, through a variety of legal food and nutrition entitlements. However, due to a complex array of social, economic, political, and environmental factors, government-supported food and nutrition programs do not necessarily translate into improved food and nutrition security; in particular, women's empowerment, citizen awareness of entitlement eligibility, and inconsistent and insufficient provision of entitlements contribute to widespread food and nutrition insecurity across India. Though the National Food Security Act was only partially implemented in Bihar at the time of data collection, this thesis provides a rights-based approach for expanded implementation of the NFSA and other food and nutrition entitlements. In order to support the realization of the right to food India, particularly for women, these challenges must be mitigated through a combination of citizen empowerment and improved government accountability systems.

References

Abraham, R & Fraker, A. (2013). *Bihar's malnutrition crisis and potential solutions*. Retrieved from www.ideasforindia.in/article.aspx?article_id=144

Assembly, U.G. (1948). Universal Declaration of Human Rights Resolution adopted by the General Assembly, 10(12).

Bhagowalia, P., Menon, P., Quisumbing, A. R., & Soundararajan, V. (2012). What dimensions of women's empowerment matter most for child nutrition: Evidence using nationally representative data from Bangladesh. *IFPRI Discussion Pape r01192*, *Washington*, *DC: IFPRI*.

Black, R. E., Victora, C. G., Walker, S. P., Bhutta, Z. A., Christian, P., De Onis, M., & Maternal and Child Nutrition Study Group. (2013). Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. *The Lancet*, 382(9890), 427-451.

Blössner, M. & Onis, M. (2005). Malnutrition: Quantifying the health impact at national and local levels. WHO Environmental Burden of Disease Series, No. 12. Retrieved from www.who.int/quantifying_ehimpacts/publications/MalnutritionEBD12.pdf

Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ECOSOC). (2009). CESCR General Comment No. 12: The Right to Adequate Food.

Choudhary, R. (2014). *Food Security Act and its Implications for Bihar*. Retrieved from www.isidelhi.org.in/saissues/articles/renu.pdf

Da Silva, JG & Chan, M. (2014). *OPINION: Now Is the Time to Tackle Malnutrition and Its Massive Human Costs. Inter Press Agency*. Retrieved from www.ipsnews.net/2014/11/opinion-now-is-the-time-to-tackle-malnutrition-and-its-massive-human-costs/

Das, S. (2015). *Food Act roll-out hit by patchy data*. Retrieved from www.financialexpress.com/article/economy/food-act-roll-out-hit-by-patchy-data/55119/

Delisle, H. F. (2008). The Double Burden of Malnutrition in Mothers and the Intergenerational Impact. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1136(1), 172-184.

De Schutter, O. (2013). Report submitted by the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food: Interim report of the Special Rapporteur on the right to food

Dharmalingam, A., Navaneetham, K., & Krishnakumar, C. S. (2010). Nutritional status of mothers and low birth weight in India. *Maternal and child health journal*, *14*(2), 290-298.

Drèze, Jean. (2013). The Food Security Debate in India. New York Times India. Retrieved from india.blogs.nytimes.com/2013/07/09/the-food-security-debate-in-india/?_r=0

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2014). *The State of Food Insecurity in the World 2014*. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/3/a-i4030e.pdf

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2012). *Guidance Note: Integrating the Right to Adequate Food into food and nutrition security programs*. Retrieved from www.fao.org/3/a-i3154e.pdf

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2010). *Gender equality and food security: women's empowerment as a tool against hunger*. Retrieved from www.fao.org/wairdocs/ar259e/ar259e.pdf

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2006). *The Right to Food in Practice: Implementation at the National Level*. Retrieved from www.fao.org/docrep/016/ah189e/ah189e.pdf

Glasier, A., Gülmezoglu, A. M., Schmid, G. P., Moreno, C. G., & Van Look, P. F. (2006). Sexual and reproductive health: a matter of life and death. *The Lancet*, *368*(9547), 1595-1607

Global Food Security Index. (2013). Retrieved from foodsecurityindex.eiu.com

Gómez, M. I., Barrett, C. B., Raney, T., Pinstrup-Andersen, P., Meerman, J., Croppenstedt, A., ... & Thompson, B. (2013). Post-green revolution food systems and the triple burden of malnutrition. *Food Policy*, 42, 129-138.

Government of India. National Food Security Act, 2013 Registered No. DL-(N)04/0007/2003-13.

Government of India Planning Commission. (2009). Report of the expert group to review the methodology for estimation of poverty. Retrieved from www.planningcommission.nic.in/reports/genrep/rep_pov.pdf

Gulati, A & Saini, S. (2015). *Indian Council for Research on International Economic Relations*. Retrieved from icrier.org/pdf/Working_Paper_294.pdf

Gulliford, M. C., Mahabir, D., & Rocke, B. (2003). Food insecurity, food choices, and body mass index in adults: nutrition transition in Trinidad and Tobago. *International journal of epidemiology*, 32(4), 508-516.

Hadley, C., & Patil, C. L. (2006). Food insecurity in rural Tanzania is associated with maternal anxiety and depression. *American Journal of Human Biology*, 18(3), 359-368.

Heflin, C. M., Siefert, K., & Williams, D. R. (2005). Food insufficiency and women's mental health: findings from a 3-year panel of welfare recipients. *Social science & medicine*, 61(9), 1971-1982.

Heylen, E., Panicker, S. T., Chandy, S., Steward, W. T., & Ekstrand, M. L. (2014). Food Insecurity and Its Relation to Psychological Well-Being Among South Indian People Living with HIV. *AIDS and Behavior*, 1-11.

Integrated Child Development Services. (2014). Bihar. Retrieved from www.icdsbih.gov.in

Isanaka, S., Mora-Plazas, M., Lopez-Arana, S., Baylin, A., & Villamor, E. (2007). Food insecurity is highly prevalent and predicts underweight but not overweight in adults and school children from Bogota, Colombia. *The Journal of nutrition*, 137(12), 2747-2755.

Ivers, L. C., & Cullen, K. A. (2011). Food insecurity: special considerations for women. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 94(6), 1740S-1744S.

Kirkpatrick, S. I., & Tarasuk, V. (2008). Food insecurity is associated with nutrient inadequacies among Canadian adults and adolescents. *The Journal of nutrition*, *138*(3), 604-612.

Kishore, A., Joshi, P., & Hoddinott, J. (2013). A Novel Approach to Food Security. Retrieved from www.ifpri.org/gfpr/2013/indias-right-to-food-act

Leung, C. W., Epel, E. S., Ritchie, L. D., Crawford, P. B., & Laraia, B. A. (2014). Food insecurity is inversely associated with diet quality of lower-income adults. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 114(12), 1943-1953.

Martorell, R., & Zongrone, A. (2012). Intergenerational influences on child growth and undernutrition. *Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology*, 26(s1), 302-314.

Mason, J. B., Shrimpton, R., Saldanha, L. S., Ramakrishnan, U., Victora, C. G., Girard, A. W., ... & Martorell, R. (2014). The first 500 days of life: policies to support maternal nutrition. *Global health action*, 7.

Menendez, K. P. Women's decision-making autonomy and dietary intake in Jharkhand State, India. In *Annual Meeting*.

Noznesky, E. A., Ramakrishnan, U., & Martorell, R. (2012). A situation analysis of public health interventions, barriers, and opportunities for improving maternal nutrition in Bihar, India. *Food & Nutrition Bulletin*, 33(Supplement 1), 93-103.

National Family Health Survey, India. (2006). *NFHS-3 State Reports*, *Bihar*. Retrieved from www.rchiips.org/NFHS/bihar_report.shtml

Olson, C. M. (1999). Nutrition and health outcomes associated with food insecurity and hunger. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 129(2), 521S-524S.

Pinstrup-Andersen, P. (2012). The food system and its interaction with human health and nutrition. *Reshaping agriculture for nutrition and health*, 21.

Prendergast, A. J., & Humphrey, J. H. (2014). The stunting syndrome in developing countries. *Paediatrics and international child health*, *34*(4), 250-265.

Ramakrishnan, U., Grant, F., Goldenberg, T., Zongrone, A., & Martorell, R. (2012). Effect of women's nutrition before and during early pregnancy on maternal and infant outcomes: a systematic review. *Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology*, 26(s1), 285-301.

Right to Food Campaign (RFC). (2015). *About*. Retrieved from www.righttofoodcampaign.in/about

Sajjanhar, A and Gokarn, S. (2013). Food Security: The Act and Beyond. Brookings, India. brookings.in/the-food-security-act/

Socio Economic and Caste Census (SECC). SECC 2011. (2015). Retrieved from secc.gov.in

Sorsdahl, K., Slopen, N., Siefert, K., Seedat, S., Stein, D. J., & Williams, D. R. (2011). Household food insufficiency and mental health in South Africa. *Journal of epidemiology and community health*, 65(5), 426-431.

Sreeramareddy, C. T., Ramakrishnareddy, N., & Subramaniam, M. (2014). Association between household food access insecurity and nutritional status indicators among children aged 5 years in Nepal: results from a national, cross-sectional household survey. *Public health nutrition*, 1-9.

Srinivasan, V., & Narayanan, S. (2007). Food Policy and Social Movements: Reflections on the Right to Food Campaign in India. *Reflections*, 11, 1-13.

The Hindu. (2015). *Centre extends food law deadline again by 6 months*. Retrieved from www.thehindu.com/news/national/centre-extends-national-food-security-act-rollout-deadline-again-by-6-months/article7066437.ece

The Hindu. (2014). States get 6 more months to roll out Food Security Act. Retrieved from www.thehindu.com/news/national/states-get-6-more-months-to-roll-out-food-security-act/article6485486.ece

Tarasuk, V. S. (2001). Household food insecurity with hunger is associated with women's food intakes, health and household circumstances. *The Journal of nutrition*, *131*(10), 2670-2676.

Unicef. (2013). *India - Statistics*. Retrieved from http://www.unicef.org/infobycountry/india_statistics.html

United Nations Development Program. (2014). *Multidimensional Poverty Index*. Retrieved from hdr.undp.org/en/content/multidimensional-poverty-index-mpi

United Nations Development Program. (2011). *UNDP in Bihar*. Retrieved from indiaco.beta.undp.org/content/india/en/home/operations/about_undp/undp-in-bihar.html

van den Bold, M., Quisumbing, A., & Gillespie, S. (2013). *Women's Empowerment and Nutrition: An Evidence Review*. International Food Policy Research Institute.

World Bank. (2013). Helping India Combat Persistently High Rates of Malnutrition. Retrieved from www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2013/05/13/helping-india-combat-persistently-high-rates-of-malnutrition

World Health Organization. (2015). *Food Security*. Retrieved from www.who.int/trade/glossary/story028/en/

World Summit on Food Security. (2009). *Declaration of the World Summit on Food Security*. Retrieved from

 $www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/wsfs/Summit/Docs/Final_Declaration/WSFS09_Declaration.pdf$

Appendices

Appendix 1. Pregnant and Lactating Woman IDI Guide

Objectives of this tool:

- To explore household decision-making, beliefs, and expenditure regarding food and nutrition
- To explore perceptions and utilization of national and state nutrition and food entitlements

Participant Info

[Interviewer: before you begin, ask the participant the following questions and fill in the table below]

What is your age? What is your educational level?

What is your religion? What is your caste?

Warm up: To start, can you tell us more about who lives in your household (including yourself)?

Probes: How old are they?

Are they male or female? What is their relation to you? What is their occupation?

If they are female, are they pregnant or lactating?

Thank you for your answers. Now, we'd like to ask you a few questions about how food comes into your household.

1. Can you describe what meals you have on a typical day?

Probe: What type of foods do you have in each meal?

Does everyone in your household eat the same meals?

- 2. Where does your household food come from? (i.e. local market, personal garden, PDS shop)
 - Who purchases the food?
 - Why are they the ones to purchase the food? How do they decide what foods should be purchased?
 - O Who earns the money to purchase food?
 - o How does the food purchased differ in the different seasons?
 - o How do you decide where to purchase your food?
 - O Do you produce any of your own food? If yes, what?
- 3. What types of foods do you want to eat that you are not able to eat?

Probe: Why aren't you able to eat this type of food?

4. Okay, thank you. Now that we know a little bit more about your families and what you eat, we'd like talk about how your meals are served in your household.

Encourage the respondent to think about a typical day in her HH . if she has trouble ask her to think about the previous day.

- What did you eat?
- Who prepared the food? Is it always like this?
- Who served the food?
- Who ate first? Why? Why not ____?
- Who ate most? Why? Why not?
- Who eats less food if there is not enough food?
- 5. Do your household members have concerns about your health?
 - o [Probe why they think this worry exists.
 - o (refer to pregnancy or lactating status)
 - o Food/nutrition?
 - o Rest?
 - O Ante-natal care?
- 6. What are your health concerns around yourself as a pregnant OR lactating woman? Any challenges that prevent you from feeling completely healthy?

Now, we would like to ask a few questions about your household spending on food.

- 7. What are the three biggest areas of expenditure for your household each month? Probe: housing, food, etc.
 - o (If food mentioned) Is it a concern how much is spent on food? Why or why not?
 - o (If food is not mentioned) Why is food not a major expense? What supports exist for their household to keep these costs manageable?
- 8. Have you ever felt that your household did not have enough food?
 - o Probe: (if yes) When did that happen? Why do you think that happened? How did this affect you?
 - o (if no) Do you ever worry about it? Why or why not?
 - o How much more food does your household need?
- 9. Are you able to spend as much money on food each month as you would like to?
 - o Probe: (if not) Would you like to buy more food and/or different types of food?
 - How much more money would you need to purchase the amount or type of food that you would like?

Great, now we would like to ask about community programs that are related to food and nutrition.

- 10. Could you describe the food or nutrition support that you receive?
 - o How well do you feel these programs improve your nutrition?
 - O What do you like? What do you not like?
 - o How do you think that they could be improved?

PROBES: USE THE FOLLOWING AS A LIST OF PROGRAMS IF NOT MENTIONED SPONTANEOUSLY BY RESPONDENT:

- a. Anganwadi centers
 - Cash incentives for a woman's first two births (Indira Gandhi); supplementary nutrition (Poorak Poshaahar); take home rations.
- b. The Public Distribution System
 - What do you know about free or reduced price grain products available in your community?
 - What do you think about the support from the PDS?
- 11. Overall, how do women like you feel about government-run welfare programs?

 Probe: In what ways do you think that these programs are important?

 In what ways do you think that these programs are useful?

Cool down questions: Now, we are going to wrap up with a few closing questions.

12. Is there anything else that you'd like to tell us about your food and nutrition consumption or needs that we haven't asked about?

Appendix 2. Anganwadi IDI Guide

Objectives of this Tool:

- To explore the provision and experiences of maternal nutrition support from the Anganwadi workers
- To explore the barriers and possible solutions to maternal nutrition problems in Bihar

Section 1: Introduction and Provision of Maternal Nutrition Programming (20 minutes) Thanks for agreeing to speak with us. We'd like to start off by talking about your work as an Anganwadi worker.

1. Can you please describe your position as an anganwadi worker?

Probe: What is your general day-to-day work as an anganwadi worker?

When is the AWC open (days and times)?

How long have you worked as an AWW?

How long have you worked in this specific center?

Do you live in this community?

- 2. Now I want to learn more about your work with different types of people in your village. (instructions to RA: read each beneficiary type one by one) What do you do when you work with... [fill in with each of the following options]
 - a) A 15 year old girl

Probe: What about the SABLA nutrition provision, IFA supplementation, and Education in nutrition and health?

What about the Poorak Poshaahar nutrition supplementation?

What about the ICDS supplementary nutrition THR and hot meals for 3 adolescent women?

b) A newlywed 20 year old woman

Probe: Do you provide any type of pre-pregnancy counseling or education?

c) A pregnant woman

Probe: What about the cash incentive for first two births?;

What about IFA supplementation?

What about Poorak Poshaahar nutrition supplementation?

What about the ICDS supplementary nutrition THR and hot meals for 16 pregnant women?

d) A mother of a two month old child

Probe: What about the cash incentive for first two births?;

What about IFA supplementation?

What about Poorak Poshaahar nutrition supplementation?

What about the ICDS supplementary nutrition THR and hot meals for 16 lactating women?

3. Can you tell us more about how the ICDS supplementary nutrition (where THR and hot meals are served to 16 pregnant, 16 lactating women, and 3 adolescent women) program works?

Probe: How are the beneficiaries of this program selected?

4. Within your community, what are other programs impacting women and girls' nutrition?

Probe: What do you know about the National Food Security Act?

What do you know about PDS shops' distribution of grains to families?

What do you think about the PDS system in your community?

Section 2: Experiences working with Maternal Nutrition (10 minutes)

5. Can you tell us about a time that you've seen a woman improve her nutrition practices or behavior after you've worked with her?

Probe: Which specific practice? Why was she able to change her practices? Which certain strategies or counseling messages helped her change?

6. Can you tell us about a time that you tried to help a woman improve her nutrition, but the woman still did not change her practices?

Probe: Why was it difficult for her to change her practices?

What beliefs did the woman or her family have about food/nutrition that prevented her from changing her practices?

Section 3: Recommendations and Wrap-up (10 minutes)

7. What do you think are the three biggest barriers to good maternal nutrition in your community?

Probe: For adolescent girls?

For pregnant women? For lactating women?

In provision of anganwadi services?

8. What do you think can be done in the community to overcome these barriers?

Probe: What can be done by women themselves?

What can be done within women's households?

What can be done by anganwadi workers/centers?

What can be done by ASHAs?

What can be done by others (i.e. organizations, government, community members)?

9. Is there anything else that you'd like to tell us about your community's food and nutrition consumption or needs that we haven't asked about?

Section 4. Questionnaire

Where is the AWC housed own building

gram panchayat office

rented space private house other (explain)

unclear

AWC condition: AWC does not need repair

AWC is water-proof

AWC is adequately ventilated

AWC is well lit
AWC has a boundary wall
Medicine kit/First Aid Box
Vessels for cooking

Vessel for storing drinking water

Other notes:

Does AWC have:

Appendix 3. PDS Shopkeeper IDI Guide

Objectives of this Tool:

• To explore the purpose of the PDS shops as it relates to current entitlements for women

• To explore the perceived supply, demand, and distribution of PDS shops in Bihar

Participant Information (2 minutes)

PDS Shop location PDS shop worker religion

PDS shop worker age PDS shop worker educational level

PDS shop worker caste # of years worked at shop

To start, we would like to know more about how the PDS shop works. (5 minutes)

- 1. Can you please explain what the purpose of the PDS shop is?
- 2. What is your role at the shop?
 - a. Can you please walk us through a typical day of work here?
 - b. How often do you work at the shop in one week (or month)?

Thank you for your answers. Now, we'd like to ask you a few questions about the supply in the PDS shop. (15 minutes)

- 3. What products do you have in the shop?
 - a. Do you have any products that aren't supplied by the government?
- 4. How do you receive your products from the government?
 - a. When do you receive the products? (regularly, intervals, etc.)
 - b. How much of the product do you receive in one shipment?
 - c. What requests can you make for more or different products?
- 5. What do you think about the amount of product (quantity) that is provided to you by the government?
 - a. How constant is the amount of product that you receive?
 - b. Do you receive enough? If not, why?
 - c. If you don't receive enough, how does this affect you?
- 6. What do you think about the quality of the supply you have in your shop?
 - a. What are the biggest concerns with quality- same for all groups or certain foods are "problem foods"
 - b. What do you think the community thinks of it?
- 7. Can you tell us about a time when you had a problem with the supply of products in your shop?

Now, we'd like to ask you a few questions about the distribution from the PDS shop. (15 minutes)

- 8. Who is eligible to receive food from your shop?
 - a. How do you keep track of who is eligible? [if register, ask to see register]
- 9. Of the people who are eligible, how many actually come to the PDS shop?

- a. How do you keep track of who comes to the shop? [if register, ask to see register]
- 10. How do people receive food from your shop? (ration card, voucher, other)
 - a. Do people pay for these products or do they receive them for free?
 - b. Does each person/family receive the same product?
 - c. Does each person/family receive the same amount of product?
- 11. Is this how the structure works for all PDS shops, or are some blocks or districts different?
- 12. Do you think that this distribution process works well?
 - a. Can you tell us about a time that the distribution of product made a positive impact?
 - b. Can you describe a particular time when you had some problems with the distribution of the product?"

Finally, we'd like to ask you a few questions about your perceptions of how well the PDS shop and related entitlements work. (15 minutes)

- 13. What do you think people in the community think about the PDS system and PDS shops?
 - a. How do the beneficiaries feel about it?
 - b. How do other PDS shopkeepers feel about it?
 - c. How do the local authorities feel about it?
- 14. What have you heard about the recently passed Food Security Act?
 - a. How will this change things for you?
 - b. How will this change things for the community?
 - c. What are the positive and negative impacts?
- 15. Currently, how are PDS shops working with other governmental programs to improve nutrition?
 - a. In what ways are PDS shops impacting other programs?
 - b. In what ways are other programs impacting PDS shops?
 - c. How can PDS shops and other programs positively impact eachother?

Thank you so much for you help in answering our questions. Are there any other aspects of the PDS shop that we haven't covered that are important for us to understand?

Final Questionnaire (5 minutes)

PDS Shop Type own building

gram panchayat office

rented space private house other (explain)

unclear

Type of ration cards at shop APL

BPL

Antyodaya Annapoorna Other (explain):

Days and hours of operation:

Does PDS shop have:

An electricity connection

"Standard" weights

Electronic weighing scales

Calculator

A fingerprint reader Smart card readers Information Board Receipt/bill book

Does PDS display:

Days and hours of operation Contact number of dealer Helpline/complaint number

Stock of grain

Entitlements (price and quantity) of BPL card holders

List of BPL cardholders

Were the registers available for inspecti on at the time of your visit?

Was the dealer reluctant to show the registers?

Does the PDS shop have clear, legible, a nd complete sales and stock registers?

What is the official commission rate pay able to the dealer?

Wheat (Rs./quintal) Rice (Rs./quintal)

Appendix 4. Husbands and Mothers-in-Law FGD Guide

Target Group: Mothers-in-law with at least one current or past pregnant or lactating daughter (have dealt with a pregnancy in their household)

Objectives:

- To explore household decision making around food
- To explore perceptions and awareness of food and nutrition entitlements for women

Focus Group Discussion Introduction (10 minutes)

Hello, my name is ______, and I am the moderator for this discussion. I am here to chat with you all about a few topics related to household food and meal consumption. We are looking to learn more about how you, your daughter's in law and other female members of your household use government food and/or nutrition programs, and your opinions of these programs. We are using this information to help CARE India improve its programmatic work to enhance women's access to food and nutrition resources.

Since we're talking about food today, we're going to start by talking about our favorite foods. I want everybody to turn towards one of your neighbors and take turns telling the other about what your favorite food is and why. [instruct them to do so for 60 seconds]

Now that you've had a chance to find out more about another person in the room, let's take turns telling the group about your partner's favorite food. [spend 3 minutes doing this]

Great, now that we know a little bit more about each other, are you ready to begin?\

As you will see, there are no right or wrong answers to any of the questions we're going to ask. The purpose of today's group discussion is to find out what your personal opinions are, and everyone's opinion is equally important to us. Before we begin, I do want to explain a few rules that you should keep in mind.

- **1. You must respect other's opinions.** Since this is a safe space for open discussion, you may find that you disagree with an opinion voiced here by another person. That is okay, and we encourage you to respectfully talk about differences in opinion. However, please remember to respect other's opinions; allow everybody to express their thoughts, and do not be rude about their opinions.
- **2.** Only one person can speak at one time. Because we want to make sure that everybody is able to express their opinions, we will allow only one person to speak at a time. Please listen to the person who is speaking, and wait for her to finish her thoughts before you begin to speak.
- **3.** This discussion is confidential and anonymous. There will be no record of what you say with your name on it. We are not going to quote anyone specifically using her name. So with

group. However, we would like to use an audio recorder, if that is ok with you, so that we make sure we capture your words accurately, since your thoughts are very important to us; no one will know which person says any specific statement. May we audio record this section? [Wait until all agree]. Lastly, and will also be taking notes on what they observe. When any of this information is used in a report, it will not be linked with your name. Does anybody have any questions?	that in mind, please don't share anything that you've heard today with anybody outside of this
know which person says any specific statement. May we audio record this section? [Wait until all agree]. Lastly, and will also be taking notes on what they observe. When any of this information is used in a report, it will not be linked with your name. Does anybody have	group. However, we would like to use an audio recorder, if that is ok with you, so that we make
all agree]. Lastly, and will also be taking notes on what they observe. When any of this information is used in a report, it will not be linked with your name. Does anybody have	sure we capture your words accurately, since your thoughts are very important to us; no one will
of this information is used in a report, it will not be linked with your name. Does anybody have	know which person says any specific statement. May we audio record this section? [Wait until
ı , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	all agree]. Lastly, and will also be taking notes on what they observe. When any
any questions?	of this information is used in a report, it will not be linked with your name. Does anybody have
	any questions?

[Answer questions]

Once again, is everybody willing to participate in today's discussion?

[wait for consent/

Great, let's begin!

To start, we'd like to hear more about where household food comes from.

1. In your community, where does a typical household's food come from?

Probe: Do families produce their own food? What kinds of foods do they produce?

If food is purchased outside of the home, where is food purchased? What types of foods are purchased?

Thank you. Keeping this in mind, we'd now like to do an activity to talk about how decisions around food are made.

Activity: Household Decision Making/Action Taking Pile Sort (30 minutes)

Explain that in every household, there are many decisions about food and nutrition that need to be made to maintain the family's health. With this exercise, we are going to explore what those decisions are, who makes them, and how they are made.

Show participants a large paper that shows images of typical household members. Explain that you will read out different actions or decisions related to food in the household, and for each action or decision, they should place one bean underneath the person(s) most responsible for doing that action or making that decision.

Hand each participant a handful of beans, and ask if there are any questions. Answer questions, and then begin by asking the following questions:

- Who decides what food should be purchased for the household?
- Who purchases the food?
- Who earns the money to purchase food?
- Who harvests food (where applicable)?
- Who prepares food?
- Who serves food?

- Who eats first?
- Who eats most?
- Who eats less food if there is not enough food?
- Who feeds children?

After each question is asked and participants place their beans on the appropriate person(s), ask questions such as "how" and "why" to probe further into the rationale behind each decision or action. Make sure to also ask how any of these answers change if there is a pregnant woman in the household.

Thank you. Now, we'd like to ask about the community programs that are related to food and nutrition. (30 minutes)

3. What food or nutrition support programs exist in your community?

Probe: Could you describe the resources you know about?

How did you know about these?

How do you feel about these programs?

4. Where do people access these food or nutrition supports in your community?

Probe: In the community, how often do people access these services?

5. What do mothers-in-law in the community think about nutrition support provided by the Anganwadi centers in particular?

Probe: How well do you feel this program supports/improves your community's nutrition?

What is good about the Anganwadi centers?

What are problems with the Anganwadi centers?

How do you think that this program could be improved?

6. What do mothers-in-law in the community think about nutrition support provided by the PDS shops in particular?

Probe: How well do you feel this program supports/improves your community's nutrition?

What is good about the PDS shops?

What are problems with the PDS shops?

How do you think that this program could be improved?

Now, we'd like to ask a few questions about your role in your daughters-in-law's health and nutrition, particularly when they are pregnant.

7. In your community, when a daughter-in-law is pregnant or lactating, who is responsible for her health?

Probe: In what ways is that person(s) responsible for her health? Why is it that person? What about a daughter-in-law's nutrition?

Does any of this care change when it is a first pregnancy vs. second pregnancy? Why?

- 8. During pregnancy, are there any food items that you advise your daughters-in law not to eat? Are there any foods that are prohibited?
- 8.Do you think women in this community get the rest that they need for pregnancy? Probe: Why or why not? What needs to change? How can that change?
- 9. Do you think women get the food and nutrition that they need for pregnancy and lactation? Probe: Why or why not? What needs to change? How can that change?

Thank you all for your responses.

10. Is there anything else that you'd like to tell us about your food and nutrition consumption or needs that we haven't asked about?

Appendix 5. Codebook

Code	Definition	Example
		_
		I. Who comes to do those surveys?
		I: Who comes to do these surveys?
	A	R: For the surveys, it's the officials of the
"O	Any mention of term	government.
"Government"	"government"	
		I: does it ever happen that the rations that are
		given, fall short? R: yes, it does. For
	D: : 1, 1, 4	example, if the sack holds 50 kilos, but it
	Discussion related to the	comes with less. Then listening to the
	belief and ability to promote,	people's complaints, we go and demand
A .d	advocate, express opinions to	more. But how many officials can we go to
Advocacy	those "higher up"	with these small-small things?
	Discussion related to	I: okay, didi- tell me about the AWC, do you
ATTICLA	beneficiaries accessing	receiving anything from there?
AWC Access	Anganwadi services	R: yes, we get rice and daal.
	D: 1.1.	I: , when you were pregnant or now that
ATTIC	Discussion related to	you're a lactating mother, do you get
AWC	beneficiaries awareness of	anything, from the government?
Awareness	Anganwadi services	R: yes, from the aanganwadi.
		I: Can you tell us a little bit about your role?
		R: We have been recruited for 6 services:
	Discousion related to the	children's school education, provision of
	Discussion related to the	rations, getting children immunized,
AWW	daily roles and	weighing pregnant and lactating mothers,
	responsibilities of an	provididing ration for their food. This is all the work we have.
Responsibility	Anganwadi Worker	
	Any discussion related to	I: what do you think are the three biggest barriers when it comes to maternal nutrition?
Challenges to	"why" someone's/a	
Good Nutrition	community's nutritional status is poor	R: we have problems with the THR. We have to give it only to 8 but 16 come to us
GOOG MARTHOR	Any mention of "child,"	I: yes, so what is he worried about?
	"children," "son," "daughter,"	R: about the children- how will they study,
Children	or "baby"	how will they get married- all this.
Ciliui en	Discussion surrounding food	now will they get married- all this.
Community	supply, access, habits, and	I: I would like to know that on average what
Food	customs in the Nalanda	are they types of foods that are prepared at
Environment	community	home in you community?
Community	Discussion surrounding	I: Okay didi. the food that one gets from the
perception of	views and opinions on	aanganwadi- it must be helping the women?
AWC	<u> </u>	What do the women think about it?
AWC	Anganwadi Center	what do the wollien tillik about it?

		I: like as you were telling me, that my
		husband is worried about my healthso
	Discussion surrounding	what does he worry about with regards to
Concerns about	"worries," "concerns," and	your health? Like it may happen, related to
Women's	"tensions" related to women's	your nutrition? Your rest? Your check-up?
Health	health and wellness	What does he worry about?
Heuren	Discussion related to	What does no worry about.
	government officials (PDS,	
	AWW, mukiya, etc.) doing	All participants said that they get six months
	something that goes against	worth, and the other six months worth was
Corruption	rules	eaten up by the dealer.
Corruption	Tutes	· •
	Discussion related to what	I: in one day typically what all do you eat?
	Discussion related to what	R: Roti with vegetables, daal with rice.
D - :1 D: -4	women and their families eat	Vegetables that are mashed or fried. We eat
Daily Diet	on a daily basis	three times in one day. We eat well.
		R: I think that sometimes I should get some
		rest, but I am not able to. Nowadays, it's the
	Discussion surrounding	rainy days. When the kids come from school,
De-emphasis of	maternal health, particularly	I have to wash their clothes. A mother has to
Maternal	when the health is not	do a lot of work. A mother has to tolerate
Health	regarded as high priority	these things.
		I: what can be done to improve this?
	Discussion where the	Group: One said that the government will
	participant(s) expressed an	have to do something. What can we do- we
	inability, lack of desire, lack	don't have that reach.
Disempowerme	of belief that they could do	Group: Another said that there is so much
nt	something	corruption going on, we cant do anything
	Discussion related to eating	I: you are the one who eats first. What's the
Eating	order, amount, and other	reason that you eat first?
dynamics	dynamics within a household	R: I get hungry first, so I eat first.
-	Discussion related to	
	household agriculture and	I: is anything farm-grown at home as well?
Food harvest	harvest	
		Yesterday, I went hungry to {name of
	Discussion of not having	village}. I have three children so I made rice
	enough food, going	and put potatoes in them. They ate the rice
	"hungry," not eating as much	and mashed potatoes and sent them off to
Food insecurity	food as desired	school. And I left hungry.
		I: where do the groceries come from
	Discussion of how and where	R: they're bought from the market with
Food purchase	household food is purchased	money.
1 oou pui chase	nouschola lood is pulchased	1110110y.

	Discussion related to who	I: Who takes the decision of what food is
	makes decisions in the house,	made in the household?
HH Decision	and which decisions are	FGD: All participants said the "guardian"
Making	made by certain people	takes this decision.
Waking	made by certain people	I: okay, so all this has to do with your eating.
		Now we will talk about your household
		I
		expenditures okay. What are the things that
1111	Diament and	have the greatest expenses in your house?
HH	Discussion of money spent	What do you spend the most on, which
Expenditure	by household	things?
	Discussion of differing roles,	
	responsibilities, and actions	
	for specific members of the	I: Who cooks the food in the household?
HH Roles	household	Group: All participants said women do.
		I: How do you choose the beneficiaries?
		R: those who are poor, those who don't have
		food at home- we choose them. Poor people
		such as chamaar, musahar, maanjhi, dalit,
	Explanations of how	(names of sub-castes) and extremely
	government entitlement	backward classes. We take these people.
Identification of	beneficiaries are	Even in the kurmis, we take those who are
beneficiaries	selected/identified	poor.
	Discussion of government	
	provisions going to the	R: before this, the poor people used to get it
	wrong people, or not to the	but now they are not getting it. Those who
Misallocated	people who are supposed to	are rich, who have jobs, they are receiving it.
Provisions	receive them	This is happening because of the officials.
	Discussion related to	R: To pregnant women: we tell them about
Nutrition	nutrition education provided	timely eating, they should eat green leafy
Education	to women or communities	vegetables, milk, fruits.
	Instance in which a	
	community/woman/group	R: we don't have our names on the ration
PDS Access	discusses accessing PDS	cards.
	Instance in which a	I: didi, what do you know about the dealer's
	community/woman/group	store for grains?
	discusses their awareness of	R: you get 15 kg rice, dal and oil. On card.
PDS Awareness	PDS	
	Discussion related to how	
	PDS rations are obtained,	I: what is the process for you to pick up the
PDS Logistics	organized, and distributed	rations?
		I: what do the people in your society think
PDS	Discussion related to what	about this scheme? What do the beneficiaries
Perceptions	people think of the PDS	here think about this shop?
	Discussion related to the	R: quality? The quality is good. The people
PDS Quality	quality of PDS rations	even say that its good stock.

PDS		I: on the basis of which you have to give
	E-ulandian efektional and	· ·
Shopkeeper	Explanation of the roles of	certain amounts. So, what is your role in
Responsibility	PDS Shopkeepers	this? What do you do?
		I: I mean, have you ever fallen short of the
	Discussion related to the	supply when you had to distribute it to
PDS Supply	supply of PDS rations	people?
	11 7	I: as you all told me earlier, that first for BPL
		groups you had coupons and now you have
	Ideas that any participant has	not received your cards. So how can this be
	Ideas that any participant has about what could be	improved?
D		1
Possible	improved, related to any	FGD: They all said that if you write this and
Improvements	topic discussed	give, then there will be change.
		I: any challenges in working as an AWW?
		R: we have to give the supplementary
		nutrition to 8 pregnant women, 8 lactating
		mother but in this area, it becomes 40
Problem with	Discussion of problems	people. In all this, there is 'tension'.
AWC	observed in the AWC	Everything else is okay
Problem with	Discussion of problems	I: can you tell me about a time when you had
PDS Shop	observed with the PDS Shop	problems meeting the needs of your shop?
1255110	observed with the LDS Shop	I: when there is a lactating mother, who is
		responsible for her health?
Dogmongibility:	Discussion about who is	1
Responsibility	Discussion about who is	FGD: All participants agreed after discussion
for Women's	involved and responsible for	that the husbands are responsible and even
Health	women's health	during pregnancy.
	Discussion about what and	I: who decides what all needs to be bought in
Selection of	how foods are selected	the groceries?
Food	within the household	R: the mother in law.
		I: okay, so all this food needed for food-
	Discussion of where/how	where does it come from?
	community members	R: we have it ordered from here, or from the
Source of Food	purchase or grow their food	markets.
	Discussion of government	
	provided grains being spoiled	
	(wet, rotten, contains bugs,	
	filled with another product,	R: Ahan, if the wheat is spoilt, or it's a little
Spoiled Grains	etc.)	damp, they tell me it's not good.
<u> </u>	,	R: a lot of peoples' names have been skipped
		in this. Every time, the ministers or officials
	Discussion of individuals	take out a few names. Those people who
	who used to get rations from	were getting it before are no longer getting it
Sudden loss of	AWC or PDS who no are not	and they are creating a ruckus, they come
PDS rations	longer on recipient list	here and tell us these things.
1 DS Lauviis	Mention of term "take home	y
Taka kassa		I: what about THR?
Take home	ration," "THR," or	R: yes, we tell them about 3 kg rice and 1.5
rations	"provisions" from AWC	kilos daal.

		90 % of people don't get the rest they need
		because they are poor and have to go work in
	Discussion of women's need,	the fields. Some women go to the fields even
Women's rest	ability, or inability to rest	in the last month. All participants agreed.